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STATE OF ILLINOIS 
WESTERN ILLINOIS UNIVERSITY 

FINANCIAL AUDIT 
For the Year Ended June 30, 2023 

FINANCIAL STATEMENT REPORT 

SUMMARY 

The audit of the accompanying financial statements of the Western Illinois University (University) was 
performed by Plante & Moran, PLLC. 

Based on their audit, the auditors expressed an unmodified opinion on the University’s basic financial 
statements. 

SUMMARY OF FINDINGS 

Number of Current Report Prior Report 

Findings 0 1
Repeated Findings 0 1
Prior Recommendations Implemented or Not Repeated 1 1

SCHEDULE OF FINDINGS 

Item No. Page 
Last/First 
Reported Description Finding Type

Current Findings 

None

SCHEDULE OF FINDINGS 

Item No. Page 
Last/First 
Reported Description 

Prior Findings Not Repeated 

A 78 2022/2020 
Inadequate Internal Controls over Census
Data 
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EXIT CONFERENCE 

The University waived an exit conference in a correspondence from Dr. Guiyou Huang, President, on 
February 9, 2024.  
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Independent Auditor's Report 

Honorable Frank J. Mautino   
Auditor General  
State of Illinois  
 
and 
 
Board of Trustees 
Western Illinois University 

Report on the Audit of the Financial Statements 

Opinions 

As Special Assistant Auditors for the Auditor General, we have audited the accompanying financial statements of 
the business-type activities, fiduciary activities, and the discretely presented component unit of Western Illinois 
University (the "University"),  a component unit of the State of Illinois, as of and for the year ended June 30, 
2023, and the related notes to the financial statements, which collectively comprise the University's basic financial 
statements, as listed in the table of contents. 

In our opinion, based on our audit and the report of the other auditor, the accompanying financial statements 
referred to above present fairly, in all material respects, the respective financial position of the business-type 
activities, fiduciary activities, and the discretely presented component unit of the University as of June 30, 2023, 
and the respective changes in its financial position and, where applicable, cash flows thereof for the year then 
ended in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America. 

We did not audit the financial statements of the discretely presented component unit, Western Illinois University 
Foundation, which represents 100 percent of the assets and revenues of the discretely presented component unit 
as of and for the year ended June 30, 2023, and the respective changes in financial position, and where 
applicable, cash flows thereof for the year then ended. Those statements were audited by another auditor, whose 
report has been furnished to us, and our opinion, insofar as it relates to the amounts included for Western Illinois 
University Foundation, is based solely on the report of the other auditor.     

Basis for Opinions 

We conducted our audit in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of America 
(GAAS) and the standards applicable to financial audits contained in Government Auditing Standards, issued by 
the Comptroller General of the United States. Our responsibilities under those standards are further described in 
the Auditor's Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements section of our report. We are required to be 
independent of the University and to meet our other ethical responsibilities, in accordance with the relevant ethical 
requirements relating to our audit. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and 
appropriate to provide a basis for our audit opinions.  

Emphasis of Matter  

As discussed in Note 16 to the financial statements, in Fiscal Year 2023, the University adopted new accounting 
guidance for reporting Subscription-Based Information Technology Arrangements (SBITAs), which did not result 
in a restatement of net position. Our opinions are not modified with respect to this matter. 

Responsibilities of Management for the Financial Statements 

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the financial statements in accordance 
with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America and for the design, implementation, 
and maintenance of internal control relevant to the preparation and fair presentation of financial statements that 
are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error. 

Olivia.Grigg
Cincinnati

Olivia.Grigg
Praxity
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In preparing the financial statements, management is required to evaluate whether there are conditions or events, 
considered in the aggregate, that raise substantial doubt about the University's ability to continue as a going 
concern for twelve months beyond the financial statement date, including any currently known information that 
may raise substantial doubt shortly thereafter.  

Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements 

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a whole are free 
from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor's report that includes our 
opinions. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance but is not absolute assurance and, therefore, is not 
a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with GAAS and Government Auditing Standards will always 
detect a material misstatement when it exists. The risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting from 
fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, 
misrepresentations, or the override of internal control. Misstatements are considered material if there is a 
substantial likelihood that, individually or in the aggregate, they would influence the judgment made by a 
reasonable user based on the financial statements.   

In performing an audit in accordance with GAAS and Government Auditing Standards, we: 

•  Exercise professional judgment and maintain professional skepticism throughout the audit. 

•  Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to fraud or 
error, and design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks. Such procedures include examining,
on a test basis, evidence regarding the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements. 

•  Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit procedures that are
appropriate in the circumstances but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the
University's internal control. Accordingly, no such opinion is expressed.  

•  Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of significant accounting
estimates made by management, as well as evaluate the overall presentation of the financial statements. 

•  Conclude whether, in our judgment, there are conditions or events, considered in the aggregate, that raise
substantial doubt about the University's ability to continue as a going concern for a reasonable period of time. 

We are required to communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other matters, the 
planned scope and timing of the audit, significant audit findings, and certain internal control-related matters that 
we identified during the audit. 



To the Honorable Frank J. Mautino   
Auditor General  
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Required Supplementary Information 

Accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America require that the Management's 
Discussion and Analysis on pages 9-16, the Schedule of Share of the Net Pension Liability and the Schedule of 
Contributions on page 68, and the Schedule of Share of the Collective Total OPEB liability on page 73, be 
presented to supplement the basic financial statements. Such information is the responsibility of management 
and, although not a part of the basic financial statements, is required by the Governmental Accounting Standards 
Board, which considers it to be an essential part of financial reporting for placing the basic financial statements in 
an appropriate operational, economic, or historical context. We have applied certain limited procedures to the 
required supplementary information in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United 
States of America, which consisted of inquiries of management about the methods of preparing the information 
and comparing the information for consistency with management's responses to our inquiries, the basic financial 
statements, and other knowledge we obtained during our audit of the basic financial statements. We do not 
express an opinion or provide any assurance on the information because the limited procedures do not provide us 
with sufficient evidence to express an opinion or provide any assurance. 

Supplementary Information 

Our audit was conducted for the purpose of forming opinions on the financial statements that collectively comprise 
the University's basic financial statements. The Table of Operating Expenses on page 75 is presented for the 
purpose of additional analysis and is not a required part of the basic financial statements. Such information is the 
responsibility of management and was derived from and relates directly to the underlying accounting and other 
records used to prepare the basic financial statements. The information has been subjected to the auditing 
procedures applied in the audit of the basic financial statements and certain additional procedures, including 
comparing and reconciling such information directly to the underlying accounting and other records used to 
prepare the basic financial statements or to the basic financial statements themselves, and other additional 
procedures in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of America. In our 
opinion, the Table of Operating Expenses is fairly stated, in all material respects, in relation to the basic financial 
statements as a whole. 

Other Information 

Management is responsible for the accompanying University officials and Board of Trustees, which is presented 
for purposes of additional analysis and is not a required part of the basic financial statements. Our opinion on the 
basic financial statements do not cover such information, and we do not express an opinion or any form of 
assurance thereon.  

In connection with our audit of the basic financial statements, our responsibility is to read the other information 
and consider whether a material inconsistency exists between the other information and the basic financial 
statements, or the other information otherwise appears to be materially misstated.  If, based on the work 
performed, we conclude that an uncorrected material misstatement of the other information exists, we are 
required to describe it in our report. 



To the Honorable Frank J. Mautino 
Auditor General  
State of Illinois  

and 

Board of Trustees 
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Other Reporting Required by Government Auditing Standards 

In accordance with Government Auditing Standards, we have also issued our report dated February 22, 2024 on 
our consideration of the University's internal control over financial reporting and on our tests of its compliance with 
certain provisions of laws, regulations, contracts, grant agreements, and other matters. The purpose of that report 
is solely to describe the scope of our testing of internal control over financial reporting and compliance and the 
results of that testing, and not to provide an opinion on the effectiveness of the University's internal control over 
financial reporting or on compliance. That report is an integral part of an audit performed in accordance with 
Government Auditing Standards in considering the University's internal control over financial reporting and 
compliance. 

Cincinnati, OhioC

 

February 22, 2024 

KMacDonna
Typewriter
SIGNED ORIGINAL ON FILE



WESTERN ILLINOIS UNIVERSITY 
A COMPONENT UNIT OF THE STATE OF ILLINOIS 
MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS (UNAUDITED) 
For the Year Ended June 30, 2023 

This section of the Western Illinois University (University) annual financial report presents 
management’s discussion and analysis (MD&A) of the financial performance of the University 
during the fiscal year ended June 30, 2023. This discussion should be read in conjunction with the 
accompanying financial statements and footnotes. The discussion and analysis are designed to 
focus on current activities, resulting change, current known facts, and future outlook. The financial 
statements, footnotes, and this discussion are the responsibility of University management. 

This MD&A focuses on the University. The University’s component unit, Western Illinois 
University Foundation (Foundation), issues separate financial statements that may be obtained at 
the Foundation’s administrative office as summarized in Note 1. 

Using the Financial Report 

The University’s annual report includes the following financial statements: the Statement of Net 
Position; the Statement of Revenues, Expenses and Changes in Net Position; the Statement of Cash 
Flows; the Statement of Fiduciary Net Position; and the Statement of Changes in Fiduciary Net 
Position.  The financial statements are prepared in accordance with generally accepted accounting 
principles promulgated by the Governmental Accounting Standards Board (GASB) which require 
that financial statements be presented on a consolidated basis to focus on the University as a whole. 

The financial statements are prepared under the accrual basis of accounting. Assets, deferred 
outflows of resources, liabilities, and deferred inflows of resources are categorized as current (due 
within one year) and noncurrent (due in greater than one year). Current year revenues and expenses 
are recognized when earned or incurred, regardless of when cash is exchanged. Revenues and 
expenses are reported as either operating or nonoperating. Significant recurring sources of the 
University’s revenues, including State appropriations, gifts and investment income, are 
nonoperating as defined by GASB. Scholarship discounts and allowances applied to student 
accounts are shown as a reduction of tuition and fee revenue and auxiliary enterprise revenue. 
Stipends and other payments made directly to students are presented as student aid expenses. 
Depreciation is considered an operating expense and capital assets are reported at cost less 
accumulated depreciation. 

Financial Highlights 

Statement of Net Position 

The Statement of Net Position presents the financial position of the University at the end of the 
fiscal year and includes all assets, deferred outflows of resources, liabilities, and deferred inflows 
of resources. The difference between total assets and deferred outflows of resources and total 
liabilities and deferred inflows of resources, net position, is one indicator of the financial condition 
of the University, while the change in net position that occurs over time indicates improvement or 
deterioration in the University’s financial condition. Non-financial factors such as enrollment 
levels and the condition of facilities are relevant when assessing the overall health of the 
University. Net position is divided into three major categories, as follows: net investment in capital 
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WESTERN ILLINOIS UNIVERSITY 
A COMPONENT UNIT OF THE STATE OF ILLINOIS 
MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS (UNAUDITED) 
For the Year Ended June 30, 2023 

assets reflect the University’s equity in capital assets; restricted net position is available for 
expenditure by the University, but must be spent for purposes as determined by law, donors and/or 
external entities that have placed time or purpose restrictions on the use of the assets; and 
unrestricted net position is available to the University for any lawful purpose of the University. 

A summary of the condensed Statement of Net Position for the years ended June 30, 2023 and 
2022 is as follows: 

Condensed Statement of Net Position 

A review of the University’s Statement of Net Position at June 30, 2023 shows that the University’s 
financial foundation remains strong with assets and deferred outflows of resources of $250.9 
million and liabilities and deferred inflows of resources of $97.1 million. Net position, the 
difference between total assets and deferred outflows of resources and total liabilities and deferred 
inflows of resources, increased by approximately $9.3 million or 6.4% over the previous year. 

Total assets and deferred outflows of resources increased $5.5 million or 2.3% during Fiscal Year 
2023. Cash and cash equivalents decreased $13.6 million primarily due a decrease in cash inflows 
for tuition and fees and auxiliary enterprises charges coupled with an increase in institutional aid 
awarded to students. Capital assets increased $14.6 million mainly due to construction of the 
Center for Performing Arts of $25.8 million offset by depreciation of $14.3 million and an increase 
in right-to-use assets of $1.3 million due to the implementation of GASB Statement No. 96, 
Subscription-Based IT Arrangements (SBITA) (see Note 16). 
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WESTERN ILLINOIS UNIVERSITY 
A COMPONENT UNIT OF THE STATE OF ILLINOIS 
MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS (UNAUDITED) 
For the Year Ended June 30, 2023 

 

 
Total liabilities and deferred inflows of resources decreased $3.8 million or 3.7% during Fiscal 
Year 2023. The decrease in liabilities and deferred inflows of resources is mostly due to scheduled 
debt payments offset by an increase in deferred inflows from other post-employment benefits, an 
increase in accounts payable and accrued liabilities, and the implementation of GASB Statement 
No. 96. 
 
Statement of Revenues, Expenses and Changes in Net Position 
 
The Statement of Revenues, Expenses and Changes in Net Position presents the University’s 
changes in financial position. Revenues and expenses are classified as operating or nonoperating. 
A public University’s dependency on State appropriations and gifts usually results in operating 
deficits because the GASB reporting standards classify these revenue sources as nonoperating. 
 
A comparative summary of the condensed Statement of Revenues, Expenses and Changes in Net 
Position for the years ended June 30, 2023 and 2022 is as follows: 
 
Condensed Statement of Revenues, Expenses and Changes in Net Position 
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WESTERN ILLINOIS UNIVERSITY 
A COMPONENT UNIT OF THE STATE OF ILLINOIS 
MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS (UNAUDITED) 
For the Year Ended June 30, 2023 

Total operating revenues decreased by $3.7 million or 4.1% in 2023 primarily due to a decrease in 
tuition and fees of $4.3 million offset by an increase in other operating revenues of $.4 million and 
sales and services of educational departments of $.5 million. The decrease in tuition and fees is 
due to increase in scholarship allowances on tuition and fees. Total nonoperating revenues 
decreased $61.9 million or 39.3% due to the following: a decrease in special funding situation for 
pension and OPEB of $41.8 million and in nonoperating grants of $21.3 million. These decreases 
were offset by an increase in investment income of $1.3 million. Total operating expenses 
decreased by $53.4 million or 21.3% in 2023 primarily due to a decrease in scholarships and 
fellowships of $15.1 million, special funding situation for pension and OPEB of $41.8 million 
offset by an increase in salaries and benefits of $2.9 million. 

For the fiscal year ended June 30, 2023 all sources of revenues totaled $208 million. The following 
is a graphical illustration of revenues by source: 
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WESTERN ILLINOIS UNIVERSITY 
A COMPONENT UNIT OF THE STATE OF ILLINOIS 
MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS (UNAUDITED) 
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For the fiscal year ended June 30, 2023, expenses totaled $198.7 million. The following is a 
graphical illustration of expenses: 
 

  

 
Statement of Cash Flows 

The Statement of Cash Flows presents information related to the University’s cash receipts and 
disbursements during the fiscal year. This provides an assessment of the University’s ability to 
generate future cash flows and meet obligations as they come due. 
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WESTERN ILLINOIS UNIVERSITY 
A COMPONENT UNIT OF THE STATE OF ILLINOIS 
MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS (UNAUDITED) 
For the Year Ended June 30, 2023 

 

 
A comparative summary of the condensed Statement of Cash Flows for the years ended June 30, 
2023, and 2022 is as follows: 
 
Condensed Statement of Cash Flows 

 
 
Major sources of funds included in operating activity are student tuition and fees, grants and 
contracts, and auxiliary enterprises. Payment for employee salaries and benefits, goods and 
services, and scholarships and fellowships continue to comprise the major use of operating funds.  
 
Cash used in operating activities decreased $4.7 million primarily due to a decrease in payments 
for scholarships and fellowships and an increase in cash inflows for grants and contracts offset 
partly by an increase in payments for employee salaries and benefits and a decrease in tuition and 
fees and auxiliary enterprises charges.  
 
Cash inflows from noncapital financing activities consist primarily of State appropriations, 
Monetary Award Program awards, Pell grant revenues, and funds received from the Higher 
Education Emergency Relief Fund (HEERF). Cash provided by noncapital financing activities 
decreased $26.6 million primarily due to a decrease in cash inflows from nonoperating grants 
specifically HEERF grants. 
 
A decrease in capital assets acquired compared to the prior year contributed to the decrease of $2.9 
million in cash used in capital and related financing activities. 
 
Cash provided by investing activity increased by $1.3 million from the prior year due to an increase 
in earnings on investments.  
 
Capital Assets and Debt Administration 
 

The University had $547.1 million invested in capital assets which includes $2.6 million of right-
to-use lease assets and $1.3 million of subscription-based IT arrangements at the end of Fiscal 
Year 2023. Total capital assets net of accumulated depreciation totaled $197.3 million.  
Depreciation expense for the current year was $14.3 million. 
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Major construction projects during Fiscal Year 2023 included roof replacements, water piping 
upgrades, and the engineering and planning costs associated with the construction of a new 
performing arts center.  For the year ended June 30, 2023 construction in progress included 
engineering and planning costs associated with a new performing arts center with a balance of 
$27.6 million, roof replacements with a balance of $4.4 million, and electrical and water piping 
upgrades with a balance of $.5 million. 
 
Fiduciary Funds 
 
Fiduciary funds are used to account for resources held for the benefit of parties outside the 
University. Fiduciary funds are not available to support the University’s own programs.  
Accordingly, separate fiduciary fund statements can be found immediately following the statement 
of cash flows, and include information on funds held for student organizations, faculty and staff 
organizations, professional organizations, and others. 
 
Economic Outlook 
 

The ability of the University to fulfill its mission and execute its strategic plan is directly influenced 
by enrollment, State support and the cost of health care, utilities, employee compensation and 
benefits and State and federal mandates. 
 
A crucial element to the University’s future will continue to be our relationship with the State of 
Illinois, as we work to manage tuition to make it competitive while providing an outstanding 
college education for our students. There is a direct relationship between the growth or decline of 
State support, the impact of State regulations and the University’s ability to control tuition growth.  
The trend of State support in appropriations, capital investment, and student financial assistance, 
as well as the increase in regulations have and will continue to create more pressures on the cost 
of attendance. 
 
State appropriations represent operating support provided by the Governor and General Assembly 
for University programs. A Fiscal Year 2024 budget of $55.7 million was passed into law by the 
General Assembly, a notable 7% increase in appropriation. 
 
The University projects tuition and miscellaneous revenues to slightly decrease as compared to 
Fiscal Year 2023. In March of 2023, the Board of Trustees passed a resolution to increase the 
tuition rate for new undergraduate and graduate students by 3%. The University offers guaranteed 
tuition for each new class of entering undergraduate students. 
 
The University’s Auxiliary Enterprises projects revenues to remain level as compared to Fiscal 
Year 2023, due to an increase in the rates assessed for room, board, and fees. Other institutional 
funds include revenues from sponsored projects and departmental activity revenues. The Fiscal 
Year 2024 budget for these funds as approved by the Board of Trustees reflects a slightly lower 
spending level compared to Fiscal Year 2023. 
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WESTERN ILLINOIS UNIVERSITY 
A COMPONENT UNIT OF THE STATE OF ILLINOIS 
MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS (UNAUDITED) 
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Private gifts are an important supplement to the University’s sources of funding for operating costs. 
In Fiscal Year 2023, alumni, friends, staff, corporations, and other organizations contributed nearly 
$8.6 million to the Foundation in support of the University. These contributions include gifts and 
additions to permanent endowments. The Foundation distributed nearly $8.2 million in Fiscal Year 
2023 to support academic enhancement and instructional initiatives, student scholarships, capital 
improvements, cultural activities, athletics, regional outreach efforts, and alumni and Foundation-
sponsored programs at Western Illinois University. 

Fiscal Year 2023 continued to be impacted by the COVID-19 pandemic and other external 
economic factors. The crisis has continued to present a large financial burden to the University 
between adapting to recruitment and retention of students, keeping up with newly implemented 
standards, and the rise in inflation of normal operating costs. This is and will continue to generate 
the need to align budget to meet these new expenditures. 

The University is committed to pursuing its goal of concentrating on enrollment and retention 
across both campuses while strategically adding, and when appropriate, strategically restructuring 
programs. Cost containment and revenue initiatives are the challenges the University continues to 
encounter.
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WESTERN ILLINOIS UNIVERSITY  
A COMPONENT UNIT OF THE STATE OF ILLINOIS  
NOTES TO THE BASIC FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
For the Year Ended June 30, 2023 

NOTE 1 - SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 

Financial Reporting Entity 

Western Illinois University (University), a component unit of the State of Illinois (State), with a 
primary focus on instruction and an additional commitment to research and public service, has 
campuses located in Macomb and Moline, Illinois. The governing body of the University is the 
Board of Trustees of Western Illinois University (Board). As required by accounting principles 
generally accepted in the United States of America, these financial statements present the financial 
position and financial activities of the University and its discretely presented component unit, the 
Western Illinois University Foundation (Foundation). The Foundation is a legally separate, tax-
exempt component unit included in the University’s reporting entity because of the significance 
of its financial relationship with the University. Complete financial statements for the Foundation 
may be obtained by contacting the Foundation located at 1 University Circle, Macomb, IL 61455-
1390. 

The Foundation is a University-related organization as defined under University Guidelines 
adopted by the State of Illinois Legislative Audit Commission in 1982 as amended in 1997 and 
2020 and 2023. The Foundation was formed for the purpose of providing fundraising and other 
assistance to the University in order to attract private gifts to support the University’s instructional, 
research and public service activities. In this capacity, the Foundation solicits, receives, holds and 
administers gifts for the benefit of the University. Although the University does not control the 
timing or amount of receipts from the Foundation, the majority of resources and income thereon 
that the Foundation holds and invests are restricted to the activities of the University by the donors. 

The University is a component unit of the State of Illinois for financial reporting purposes. The 
financial balances and activities included in these financial statements are, therefore, also included 
in the State’s annual comprehensive financial report. 

Basis of Accounting and Presentation 

For financial reporting purposes, the University is considered a special-purpose government 
engaged only in business-type activities, as defined by GASB Statement No. 35, Basic Financial 
Statements – and Management’s Discussion and Analysis – for Public Colleges and Universities. 
Business-type activities are those financed in whole or in part by fees charged to external parties 
for goods and services. Accordingly, the University’s financial statements have been presented 
using the economic resources measurement focus and the accrual basis of accounting. Under the 
accrual basis, revenue is recognized when earned, and expenses are recorded when an obligation 
has been incurred. All significant intra-agency transactions have been eliminated. 

The Foundation is a private nonprofit organization that reports under accounting standards 
promulgated by the Financial Accounting Standards Board (FASB).  As such, certain revenue 
recognition criteria and other accounting rules are different from the revenue recognition criteria 
and accounting rules promulgated by the Governmental Accounting Standards Board (GASB) that 
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the University follows. Beginning in Fiscal Year 2018, the Foundation follows Financial 
Accounting Standards Board (FASB) standards for financial statement presentation.  
Consequently, reclassifications have been made to convert their statements to the GASB format 
for inclusion in the Component Unit column of the financial statements and disclosures. Except 
for reclassifying the Foundation's FASB presentation into the University's GASB presentation, no 
modifications have been made to the Foundation's financial information in the University's 
financial reporting entity for these differences. 

 
The University first applies restricted net position when an expense or outlay is incurred for 
purposes for which both restricted and unrestricted net positions are available. 

 
Deferred Outflows of Resources 

 
In addition to assets, the statement of financial position reports a separate section for deferred 
outflows of resources. This separate financial statement element represents a consumption of net 
position that applies to a future period and so will not be recognized as an outflow of resources 
(expense) until then. The University deferred outflows of resources include a loss on refunding of 
bonds payable of $142,851 and a loss on refunding of Certificates of Participation payable of 
$83,512 at June 30, 2023. The loss on refunding resulted from the difference between the 
reacquisition price and the net carrying amount of the old debt. Total amortization included in 
interest on capital asset related debt for the year ended June 30, 2023 was $96,768. Also included 
in deferred outflows of resources are pension activities of $446,367 (see Note 10 for more 
information) at June 30, 2023 and OPEB activities of $5,635,374 (see Note 11 for more 
information) at June 30, 2023.  

 
Use of Estimates 

 
The preparation of financial statements in conformity with accounting principles generally 
accepted in the United States of America requires management to make estimates and assumptions 
that affect the reported amounts of assets, deferred outflows of resources, liabilities, deferred 
inflows of resources, and net position, and disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at the date 
of the financial statements and the reported amounts of revenues, expenses and other changes in 
net position during the reporting period.  Actual results could differ from those estimates. 

 
Cash Equivalents 

 
The University considers all liquid investments with original maturities of three months or less to 
be cash equivalents. At June 30, 2023, cash equivalents consisted primarily of money market and 
similar funds. Restricted cash and cash equivalents relate to the University’s Auxiliary Facilities 
System and unspent loan funds.  
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Investments 
 

The University accounts for its investments at fair value in accordance with GASB Statement No. 
72, Fair Value Measurement and Application. Accordingly, the change in fair value of investments 
is recognized as an increase or decrease in investment assets and investment income.  

 
Illinois statutes and Board policy authorize the University to invest in certificates of deposit, The 
Illinois Funds, United States Government Securities, securities guaranteed by the full faith and 
credit of the United States government, and any other security permitted by law and approved by 
the Board. 

 
Accounts Receivable 

 
Accounts receivable consists of tuition and fee charges to students, amounts receivable from 
funding agencies for grants, amounts receivable from third parties and charges for auxiliary 
enterprise services provided to students, faculty and staff. Accounts receivable is presented net of 
estimated uncollectible amounts. 

 
Bonds and Certificates of Participation Issue Costs 

 
The insurance premium on the bonds and certificates of participation issue costs incurred on the 
revenue bonds and certificates of participation are being amortized over the life of the 
bonds/certificates of participation using the straight-line method.  Included in operating expenses 
on the Statement of Revenues, Expenses and Changes in Net Position is total amortization for the 
year ended June 30, 2023 of $72,845. 

 
Student Loans Receivable 

 
The University makes loans to students under various federal and other loan programs. Such loans 
receivable is presented net of estimated uncollectible amounts. 

 
Inventories 

 
Inventories are carried at the lower of cost (determined by first-in, first-out or average cost method, 
depending on the nature of the inventory item) or market. 
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Capital Assets 
 

Capital assets are recorded at cost at the date of acquisition, or acquisition value at the date of 
donation. The University’s capitalization policy for capital assets is as follows:  equipment - 
$5,000 or greater; land or buildings - $100,000 or greater; and site, infrastructure, or building 
improvements - $25,000 or greater.  Intangible assets which are purchased are capitalized at 
$100,000 or greater.  Internally-generated intangible assets which are primarily software are 
capitalized at $1,000,000 or greater. Renovations to buildings and land improvements that increase 
the value or extend the useful life are capitalized.  Routine repairs and maintenance are charged to 
operating expense in the year in which the expense is incurred. Depreciation is calculated on a 
straight-line basis over the estimated useful lives of the class of assets.  
 
The following estimated useful lives are being used by the University: 

 
Site improvements 25 years 
Buildings 60 years 
Building improvements 20 years 
Computer equipment 3 years 
Trucks greater than 1 ton 12 years 
Right to Use Asset Shorter of lease term or useful life  
All other equipment 7 years 

 
University capital assets financed by the State of Illinois Capital Development Board (CDB) are 
recorded by the University as the funds are expended by the CDB. 

 
Unearned Revenue 

 
Unearned revenue represents unearned student tuition and fees and advances on grants and contract 
awards for which the University has not met all of the applicable eligibility requirements. 

 
Compensated Absences 

 
University policies permit most employees to accumulate vacation and sick leave benefits that may 
be realized as paid time off or, in limited circumstances, as a cash payment. Expense and the related 
liability recognized as vacation benefits are earned whether the employee is expected to realize the 
benefit as time off or in cash. Expense and the related liability for sick leave benefits are recognized 
when earned to the extent the employee is expected to realize the benefit in cash determined using 
the termination payment method. Sick leave benefits expected to be realized as paid time off are 
recognized as expense when the time off occurs and no liability is accrued for such benefits 
employees have earned but not yet realized.  Compensated absences liabilities are computed using 
the regular pay and termination pay rates in effect at the Statement of Net Position date plus an 
additional amount for compensation-related payments such as social security and Medicare taxes 
computed using rates in effect at that date. 
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Net Position 
 

The University’s net position is classified as follows: 
 

Net investment in capital assets - consists of capital assets and right-to-use assets net of 
accumulated depreciation and reduced by the outstanding balances of bonds, notes, or other 
borrowings that are attributable to the acquisition, construction or improvement of those assets 
and deferred outflows of resources and deferred inflows of resources that are attributable to the 
acquisition, construction, or improvement of those assets or related debt. 
 
Restricted net position - nonexpendable – represents endowed funds where the donors have 
stipulated, as a condition of the gift instrument, that the principal be maintained in perpetuity and 
invested for the purpose of producing income, which may either be expended or added to the 
principal.  

 
Restricted net position - expendable – net position subject to externally imposed restrictions that 
can be fulfilled by actions of the University pursuant to those stipulations or that expire by the 
passage of time. 

 
Unrestricted – net position not subject to externally imposed stipulations but may be designated 
for specific purposes by action of management or the Board of Trustees. 
  
On-behalf Payments for Group Insurance 
 
The University had outside sources of financial assistance provided by the State on behalf of the 
University during the year ended June 30, 2023.   
 
Substantially all active employees participate in group insurance plans provided by the State and 
administered by the Department of Central Management Services (CMS), primary providing 
healthcare benefits.  In order to fund the State Employee’s Group Insurance Program’s (SEGIP) 
pay-as-you-go obligations for both current employees and retirees, the State Employees Group 
Insurance Act of 1971 (SEGIA) (5 ILCS 375/11) requires contributions based upon total employee 
compensation paid from any State fund or university component unit, except the university 
component units shall not be required to make contributions for employees who are totally 
compensated from each individual university’s Income Fund and auxiliary enterprises.  Pursuant 
to a long-standing State policy, the State’s General Fund covers the contributions for employees 
who are totally compensated from each individual university’s Income Fund and auxiliary 
enterprises. This relationship may be modified through the enactment of a Public Act by the State’s 
highest level of decision-making authority exercised by the Governor and the General Assembly 
pursuant to the State’s Constitution. 
 
During the year ended June 30, 2023, total estimated group insurance contributions for the 
University’s employees paid from the University’s Income Fund and auxiliary enterprises were 
$18,317,756.  The University made a voluntary appropriation repayment from either its State 
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appropriation or locally-held resources that was not considered a contribution of $1,319,936 to 
help offset the amount the State needed to provide for current employees under the situation 
described in the preceding paragraph.  As such, the State contributed the estimated remaining 
balance of $16,997,820 on-behalf of the University to meet this obligation for current employees.   
As the University is not legally responsible to pay for the on-behalf support provided by the State, 
the University recognizes non-operating revenues and operating expenses allocated to the related 
function performed by the employees within the University’s financial statements for its current 
employees’ participation in group insurance.   
 
Pensions 

 
For the purpose of measuring the net pension liability, deferred outflows and deferred inflows of 
resources related to pensions, and pension expense, information about the plan net position of the 
State Universities Retirement System (SURS or the System) and additions to/deductions from 
SURS’ plan net position has been determined on the same basis as they are reported by SURS. For 
this purpose, benefit payments (including refunds of employee contributions) are recognized when 
due and payable in accordance with the benefit terms. Investments are reported at fair value. 

 
For financial reporting purposes, the State of Illinois and its public universities and community 
colleges are under a special funding situation.  A special funding situation exists when a non-
employer entity (the State) is legally responsible for making contributions directly to a pension 
plan that is used to provide pensions to the employees of another entity (the University) and the 
non-employer (the State) is the only entity with a legal obligation to make contributions directly 
to a pension plan.  The University recognizes its proportionate share of the State’s pension expense 
relative to the University’s employees as non-operating revenue and pension expense, with the 
expense further allocated to the related function performed by employees. 
 
Other Postemployment Benefits (OPEB) 
 
SEGIA (5 ILCS 375), as amended, authorizes the SEGIP, which includes activity for both active 
employees and retirees, to provide health, dental, vision and life insurance benefits as a single-
employer defined benefit OPEB plan not administered as a trust.  Substantially all State and 
university component unit employees become eligible for these OPEB plan benefits when they 
become annuitants of one of the State sponsored pension plans. CMS administers these benefits 
for the annuitants with the assistance of the public retirement systems sponsored by the State, 
including the General Assembly Retirement System (GARS), Judges Retirement System (JRS), 
State Employees Retirement System (SERS), Teachers’ Retirement System (TRS), and SURS. 
 
In order to fund SEGIP’s pay-as-you-go obligations for both current employees and retirees, 
SEGIA (5 ILCS 375/11) requires contributions based upon total employee compensation paid from 
any State fund or university component unit, except the university component units shall not be 
required to make contributions for employees who are totally compensated from each individual 
university’s Income Fund and auxiliary enterprises.  Pursuant to a long-standing State policy, the 
State’s General Fund covers the contributions for employees who are totally compensated from 
each individual university’s Income Fund and auxiliary enterprises. This relationship may be 
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modified through the enactment of a Public Act by the State’s highest level of decision-making 
authority exercised by the Governor and the General Assembly pursuant to the State’s 
Constitution. 
 
Given the preceding environment, the University has two separate components of OPEB 
administered within SEGIP.  The (1) State of Illinois and its public universities are under a special 
funding situation for employees paid from the University’s Income Fund or auxiliary enterprises, 
while (2) the University is responsible for OPEB employer contributions for employees paid from 
trust, federal, and other funds.  
 

Special Funding Situation Portion of OPEB 
 

A special funding situation exists when a non-employer entity (the State) is legally 
responsible for making contributions directly to an OPEB plan that is used to provide 
OPEB to the employees of another entity (the University) and the non-employer (the 
State) is the only entity with a legal obligation to make contributions directly to an 
OPEB plan.   
 
During the OPEB measurement period ended June 30, 2022, the University made a 
voluntary appropriation repayment from either its State appropriation or locally-held 
resources that was not considered a contribution of $660,712 to help offset the amount 
the State needed to provide for retirees under the special funding situation described in 
the preceding paragraph. 
 
The University recognizes the proportionate share of the State’s OPEB expense relative 
to the University’s employees as non-operating revenue and OPEB expense, with the 
expense further allocated to the related function performed by the employees. 
 

University’s Portion of OPEB 
 

The University reports a liability, expense allocated to the related function performed 
by the employees, and related deferred inflows and outflows of resources for OPEB 
based on the University’s proportionate share of amounts paid to SEGIP pursuant to 
SEGIA for its employees paid from trust, federal, and other funds compared to the 
collective amounts paid to SEGIP pursuant to SEGIA.  The collective amounts paid to 
SEGIP pursuant to SEGIA includes (1) payments from State agencies for State 
employees, (2) the amount calculated by CMS to represent the amount paid by the 
General Fund related to the special funding situation, (3) the total voluntary 
appropriation repayment from all of the universities, and (4) the total of all payments 
from the universities for employees paid from trust, federal, and other funds.  This 
methodology has been determined by the State to be the best estimate of how future 
OPEB payments will be determined. 
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Deferred inflows and outflows of resources are recognized in OPEB expense at the 
beginning of the current period, using a systematic and rational method over a closed 
period, equal to the average expected remaining service lives of all employees, either 
active or inactive, provided with OPEB through SEGIP, determined as of the beginning 
of the measurement period. 

 
Classification of Revenues 

 
The University has classified its revenues as either operating or nonoperating according to the 
following criteria: 

 
Operating revenues include activities that have the characteristics of exchange transactions, such 
as (1) student tuition and fees, net of scholarship allowances, (2) sales and services of auxiliary 
enterprises, (3) most federal, State and local grants and contracts except for certain student 
financial aid classified as nonoperating revenues, and (4) interest on student loans. 

 
Nonoperating revenues include activities that have the characteristics of nonexchange transactions, 
such as gifts and contributions, and other revenue sources, such as State appropriations, Pell grants, 
and investment income, that are defined as nonoperating revenues by GASB Statement No. 9, 
Reporting Cash Flows of Proprietary and Nonexpendable Trust Funds and Governmental Entities 
That Use Proprietary Fund Accounting, and GASB Statement No. 34, Basic Financial Statements 
- and Management’s Discussion and Analysis - for State and Local Governments. The State of 
Illinois General Revenue Fund appropriations are reported as nonoperating revenues to the extent 
that they are expended during the current fiscal year. The University relies on these appropriations 
to provide funding for operations. 

 
Scholarship Discounts and Allowances 

 
Student tuition and fee revenues, and certain other revenues from students, are reported net of 
scholarship allowances in the Statement of Revenues, Expenses and Changes in Net Position. 
Scholarship allowances are the difference between the stated charge for goods and services 
provided by the University, and the amount that is paid by students and/or third parties making 
payments on the students’ behalf. Certain governmental grants, such as Pell grants, and other 
federal, State or nongovernmental programs are recorded as either operating or nonoperating 
revenues in the University’s financial statements. To the extent that revenues from such programs 
are used to satisfy tuition and fees and other student charges, the University has recorded a 
scholarship allowance.  

 
The scholarship allowances on tuition and fees and housing for the year ended June 30, 2023 were 
$29,149,320 and $8,312,217, respectively. 
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Collections 
 

The University has collections of rare manuscripts and art that it does not depreciate. These 
collections adhere to the University’s policy to (a) maintain them for public exhibition, education 
or research, (b) protect, keep unencumbered, care for and preserve them, and (c) require proceeds 
from their sale to be used to acquire other collection items. 

 
Endowments 

 
On June 30, 2009, the Illinois Governor signed the Uniform Prudent Management of Institutional 
Funds Act (UPMIFA) into law. UPMIFA replaced the Uniform Management of Institutional Funds 
Act and eliminates the historic dollar value rule with respect to endowment fund spending. 
UPMIFA also updated the prudence standard for the management and investment of charitable 
funds. The Foundation Board utilizes UPMIFA’s provisions in spending decisions regarding the 
Foundation’s endowment funds. 
 
For donor restricted endowments, UPMIFA permits the Board of Directors of the Foundation to 
appropriate an amount of donor restricted endowments. The Board of Directors has established an 
investment policy with the objectives of protecting the principal of these funds and maximizing 
total investment return without assuming extraordinary risks. A similar strategy has been 
implemented for Foundation designated endowments. 

 
For both donor restricted endowments and Foundation designated endowments, it is the goal of 
the Foundation to provide spendable income levels that are reasonably stable and sufficient to meet 
budgetary requirements and to maintain a spending rate, currently established at 4.25% for 
endowment purposes and 1.30% for operational purposes.  Distributions are based on a 36-month 
moving average of endowment market value (excluding farmland values), which ensures a proper 
balance between the preservation of corpus and enhancement of the purchasing power of 
investment earnings. The Foundation’s policy is to retain the endowment’s unrealized appreciation 
with the endowment (either donor restricted or Foundation designated) after spending rate 
distributions.  As of June 30, 2023, the Foundation had a total of $ 30,456,410 of net cumulative 
appreciation from investment of donor restricted endowments and Foundation designated 
endowments available for expenditure.  This amount is allocated between expendable restricted 
net position and unrestricted net position in the statement of net position based on the classification 
(restricted nonexpendable vs. unrestricted) of the underlying asset upon which the income was 
earned. 
 
Split-Interest Agreements 

 
The Foundation’s split-interest agreements with donors consist of irrevocable charitable remainder 
trusts and irrevocable charitable trusts for which the Foundation is a beneficiary.  The fair value 
of the trust assets is reported in the Statement of Net Position and changes in the fair value of the 
assets are recognized in the Statement of Revenues, Expenses, and Changes in Net Position. It is 
management’s intent to record the contribution income from these agreements in the fiscal year 
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the Foundation becomes the irrevocable beneficiary. The Foundation did not receive any new 
contribution income during Fiscal Year 2023. Any outstanding liabilities relating to the annual 
distributions required by the trust agreements have been netted with the charitable remainder trust 
assets in the Statement of Net Position.  

 
Taxes 

 
As a State institution of higher education, the income of the University is generally exempt from 
federal and state income taxes under Section 115(1) of the Internal Revenue Code and a similar 
provision of state law. However, some activities may be subject to taxation as unrelated business 
income under the Internal Revenue Code and certain activities are subject to State sales tax. No 
provision has been made for income taxes in the accompanying statements, as the University had 
no significant unrelated business income during the year. 
 
The U.S. Treasury Department issued a determination letter dated January of 1948 that the 
Foundation is exempt from Federal income taxes under what is now Section 501(c)(3) of the 
Internal Revenue Code.  
 
Deferred Inflows of Resources 
 
In addition to liabilities, the statement of financial position reports a separate section for deferred 
inflows of resources. This separate financial statement element represents an acquisition of net 
position that applies to a future period and so will not be recognized as an inflow of resources 
until then.  Deferred inflows of resources consist of activities related to OPEB and right-to-use 
lease assets. 
 
Fiduciary Funds  
 
The University acts as a fiduciary for the custodial funds meeting the criteria under GASB 84 to 
be classified as a fiduciary activity. Custodial funds are used to report fiduciary activities that are 
not required to be reported in pension (and other employee benefit) trust funds, investment trust 
funds, or private-purpose trust funds. For Western Illinois University, this includes various 
student, professional, and faculty and staff organizations in which the University has no 
administrative or financial involvement and is also not the beneficiary of these funds. These 
fiduciary fund activities and balances are excluded from the University’s financial statements 
because these assets are restricted in purpose and do not represent assets of the University.  
 
The University participates in the U.S. Department of Education’s Direct Student Loan Program.  
While direct loans are considered fiduciary funds by the University, they are normally expected 
to be held for three months or less and therefore not required to be reported in the fiduciary fund 
statements.  
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New Governmental Accounting Standards 

The Governmental Accounting Standards Board (GASB) has issued the following statements 
which are effective for periods beginning July 1, 2023, or later which may impact the University: 

Statement No. 101 – Compensated Absences, the statement updates the recognition and 
measurement guidance for compensated absences by aligning the recognition and measurement 
guidance under a unified model. The statement is effective for fiscal years beginning after 
December 15, 2023.  The impact on the University has not yet been determined. 

NOTE 2 – DEPOSITS 

University 

State law requires collateralization of all deposits with federal depository insurance; bonds and 
other obligations of the U.S. Treasury, U.S. agencies or instrumentalities of the State of Illinois; 
bonds of any city, county, school district or special road district of the State of Illinois; bonds of 
any state; or a surety bond having an aggregate value at least equal to the amount of the deposits. 

At June 30, 2023, the book balance of various University bank accounts and certificates of deposit 
was $28,838,221, while the bank balance was $30,099,812 The difference between these amounts 
represents deposits in transit and a transfer to a money market account in transit as of June 30, 
2023. In addition, the University had cash on hand in various petty cash and change funds in the 
amount of $58,436 as of June 30, 2023. 

Foundation 

At June 30, 2023, the book balance of the Foundation’s various bank accounts was $2,130,132, 
while the bank balance was $2,149,526. The difference between these amounts primarily 
represents checks that have been issued, but have not yet cleared the bank, and deposits in transit 
as of June 30, 2023. 

Reconciliation of cash and cash equivalents to deposits: 
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NOTE 3 - INVESTMENTS 
 
University 
 
As of June 30, 2023, the University held investments in the Illinois Funds Investment Pool of 
$586,298 which are classified as cash and cash equivalents on the University’s Statement of Net 
Position. The Illinois Funds is an external investment pool administered by the State Treasurer.  
The fair value of the University’s investment fund is the same as the value of pool shares and the 
investments are reported by the State Treasurer at amortized cost.  For the year ended June 30, 
2023, there were no limitations or restrictions on any participant withdrawals due to redemption 
notice periods, liquidity fees, or redemptions gates.  The fund is administered in accordance with 
the provisions of the Public Funds Investment Act (30 ILCS 235). The Illinois Funds is rated 
AAAmmf by Fitch.   
 
Custodial Credit Risk 
 
Custodial credit risk is the risk that in the event of a financial institution’s failure, a government’s 
deposits, investments or collateral securities that are in the possession of an outside party may not 
be returned to it. The University’s policy for custodial credit risk requires compliance with the 
provisions of State law. 
 
Interest Rate Risk 
 
As a means of limiting its exposure to fair value losses arising from rising interest rates, the 
University’s investment policy limits maturity of its investments to five years or less from the date 
of purchase. 
 
Credit Risk 
 
Credit risk is the risk that an issuer or counterparty to an investment will not fulfill its obligations.  
The University’s policy limits its investments to the Illinois Funds investment pool, United States 
Treasury bills, United States Treasury notes, United States Treasury bonds, Federal Farm Credit 
Banks bonds, Federal Home Loan Banks notes, Federal National Mortgage Association, Federal 
Land Bank bonds, Government National Mortgage Association, and Federal Home Loan Mortgage 
Corporation. 
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Foundation 
 
At June 30, 2023, the Foundation held investments with the following maturities: 

 

 
 
The Foundation adheres to the total return concept of investment management. Total return is 
defined as the aggregate sum of current income and changes in the market value of the assets under 
management. 
 
Custodial Credit Risk 
 
Custodial credit risk is the risk that when, in the event a financial institution or counterparty fails, 
the Foundation would not be able to recover the value of deposits, investments, or collateral 
securities that are in the possession of an outside party. The Federal Deposit Insurance Corporation 
insured account balances of $2,149,526 as of June 30, 2023.  
 
Concentration Risk 
 
Concentration risk exists when a significant portion of the portfolio is invested in items with 
similar characteristics or subject to similar economic, political, or other conditions. As of June 30, 
2023, the Foundation has three single issuer investments that each represents over 5% of the total 
assets of the Foundation. Foundation management believes these concentration risks represented 
below are not excessive when considering the overall diversification of the entire investment 
portfolio.   

Less Than
One Year or Over 10 

Type Total  No Maturity 1-5 Years 6-10 Years Years
Cash equivalents held in 

investment accounts 4,025,651$       4,025,651$       -$             -$                -$              
Certificates of deposit 1,805,957         243,836            1,562,121     -                  -                
U.S. Treasury notes 2,399,602         393,250            1,423,350     583,002          -                
U.S. agency obligations

(FHLM, FNMA) 3,186,639         969,261            1,395,332     616,575          205,471         
Municipal bonds -               -                  -                
Corporate debt securities 4,051,387         1,149,049         2,487,149     415,189          -                
Corporate equity securities 142,557            142,557            -               -                  -                
International equity securities 3,897                3,897                -               -                  -                
Mutual funds, domestic equity 17,982,692       17,982,692       -               -                  -                
Mutual funds, international equity 18,614,044       18,614,044       -               -                  -                
Mutual funds, fixed income 1,354,376         1,354,376         -               -                  -                
Real assets funds 2,559,326         300,000            777,915        1,481,411       -                
Private equity funds 16,862,061       2,650,000         5,409,905     4,932,514       3,869,642      
Hedge funds 8,690,667         8,690,667         -               -                  -                
Pooled funds 4,335,791         4,335,791         -               -                  -                
Real Estate (farm land) 5,901,337         -                   -               -                  5,901,337      

Total investments 91,915,984$     60,855,071$     13,055,772$ 8,028,691$     9,976,450$    

Maturities in Years
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The following issuers hold more than 5% of total Foundation assets as of June 30, 2023: 
 

 
 
Interest Rate Risk 
 
Interest rate risk exists when there is a possibility that changes in interest rates could adversely 
affect an investment’s value.  The Foundation does not have a policy that specifically addresses 
interest rate risk.  The Foundation had the following assets, at fair values, exposed to interest rate 
risk at June 30, 2023: 
 

 
 

Credit Risk 
 
Credit risk is the risk that an issuer or other counterparty to a debt investment will not fulfill its 
obligations. Credit quality ratings are not required for U.S. government securities that are explicitly 
guaranteed by the U.S. government. 
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At June 30, 2023, the Foundation had the following investments and their ratings: 
 

 

 
 

Fair Value Measurements 
 
The Foundation measures and records its investments using fair value measurement guidelines 
established by generally accepted accounting principles.  
 
These guidelines recognize a three-tiered fair value hierarchy, as follows: 

 
Level 1 - Quoted prices for identical investments in active markets  
Level 2 - Observable inputs other than quoted market prices 
Level 3 - Unobservable inputs 
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At June 30, 2023, the Foundation had the following recurring fair value measurements: 
 

 
 

Debt and equity securities and real estate exchange traded funds classified in Level 1 are valued 
using prices quoted in active markets for those securities. Debt securities classified in Level 2 are 
valued using quoted prices for identical securities in markets that are not active, quoted prices for 
similar securities in active markets, and matrix pricing based on the securities’ relationship to 
benchmark quoted prices. Real estate classified in Level 2 is valued using similar processes of 
comparable real estate properties.  Charitable remainder trusts classified in Level 3 are valued at 
the present value of the estimated future cash receipts from the trust assets. Such present values 
are generally assumed to be the fair market value of the percentage interest of the underlying assets 
of the trust.  
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Investments valued using the net asset value (NAV) per share (or its equivalent) are considered 
“alternative investments” and, unlike more traditional investments, generally do not have readily 
obtainable market values and take the form of limited partnerships. The following provides 
additional information related to investments measured at NAV as of June 30, 2023: 

Real asset funds – This type includes seven real asset funds that invest in global real estate, natural 
resources, and infrastructure.  The fair values of the investments in this type have been determined 
using the NAV per share (or is equivalent) of the Foundation’s ownership interest in partners’ 
capital.  The fair values of the investments in this type have been determined using recent 
observable transaction information for similar investments and nonbinding bids received from 
potential buyers of the investments.  These investments can never be redeemed with the funds, 
with the exception of Prudential Real Estate Investors.  Distribution from each fund will be 
received as underlying assets of the funds are liquidated.  Each fund is expected to have an 
approximate ten-year life.   

Private equity funds – This type includes ten private equity funds that invest in global buyouts, 
venture capital, special situations, and secondaries and co-investments.  The fair values of the 
investments in this type have been determined using the NAV per share (or its equivalent) of the 
Foundation’s ownership interest in partners’ capital.  The fair values of the investments in this type 
have been determined using recent observable transaction information for similar investments and 
nonbinding bids received from potential buyers of the investments.  These investments can never 
be redeemed with the funds.  Distributions from each fund will be received as underlying assets of 
the funds are liquidated.  Each fund is expected to have an approximate ten-year life. 

Absolute return (hedge funds) – This type includes one hedge fund that pursues multiple strategies 
to diversify risks and reduce volatility.  The strategy mix includes investments in long/short equity, 
long/short credit, relative value arbitrage, merger arbitrage, convertible arbitrage, capital structure 
arbitrage, fixed income arbitrage, short credit, distressed debt, global macro, special situations, 
and private investments.  The fair values of the investments in this type have been determined 
using the NAV per share (or its equivalent) of the investments.  This type allows for quarterly 
redemptions with 100 days’ notice.  
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Summary of Carrying Values 
 
The carrying values of cash and cash equivalents shown on previous pages are included in the 
Statement of Net Position as follows: 

 
 

The carrying values of investments shown on previous pages are included in the Statement of Net 
Position as follows: 

 
 

Investment income for the year ended June 30, 2023 consisted of: 
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NOTE 4 - ACCOUNTS AND STUDENT LOANS RECEIVABLE 
 
Accounts receivable are reported net of allowances for uncollectible accounts.  Accounts 
receivable consisted of the following as of June 30, 2023: 
 

 
 
Student loans receivable totaling $393,110 is reported net of allowance for uncollectible loans of 
$39,000 at June 30, 2023. 
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NOTE 5 - CAPITAL ASSETS 
 
Capital asset activities for the University for the year ended June 30, 2023 were as follows: 

 
Three residential buildings with a combined net book value of $3,207,317 at June 30, 2023 were 
taken offline in August 2019.  Two of these buildings are being maintained and utilized for 
alternate housing needs with the intent that they will be occupied as residential units in the future. 
The third is being used to host the county emergency operations center and provides educational 
laboratory space for the Emergency Management program. 
 
An educational building was taken offline in May 2023 due to the increasing costs necessary to 
maintain the building.  The building will no longer be used and the University reduced the reported 
balance to zero recognizing an impairment loss of $46,874.  The impairment loss is included in 
Depreciation Expense on the Statement of Revenues, Expenses and Changes in Net Position.   
 

Construction in progress included engineering and planning costs associated with a new 
performing arts center with a balance of $27.6 million, roof replacements with a balance of $4.4 
million, and electrical and water piping upgrades with a balance of $.5 million.  These projects are 
funded by the Illinois Capital Development Board. 
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Lessee Arrangements 
 
The University has entered into various leases for land, communication towers, billboards, 
warehouse and office facilities, and office equipment.  The University makes fixed lease payments 
on a monthly, quarterly, or annual basis depending on the lease terms.  Right-to-use assets are 
reported in Capital assets, net of accumulated depreciation on the Statement of Net Position. 
 
At June 30, 2023, right-to-use assets under leases are as follows: 
 

 
 
Future principal and interest payment requirements related to the University’s lease liability at 
June 30, 2023 are as follows: 
 

 
 

The following is a schedule depicting the University’s lease activity for the year ended June 30, 
2023: 
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Lessor Arrangements 
 
The University leases office space and space on communication towers to various third parties.  At 
June 30, 2023, the receivable balance was $677,350 which is included in other assets and the 
deferred inflow balance was $648,190. The University recognized $121,884 in lease revenue for 
the period ending June 30, 2023.  Fixed lease payments were received on a monthly basis. 
 
Subscription-Based Information Technology Arrangements 
 
The University obtains the right to use vendors’ information technology software through various 
long-term contracts. The University recognizes a subscription liability and an intangible right-of-
use subscription asset (the "Subscription-Based IT Arrangements"). The University recognizes 
subscription assets and liabilities with an initial value of $20,000 or more.  
 
At the commencement of a subscription, the University initially measures the subscription liability 
at the present value of payments expected to be made during the subscription term. Subsequently, 
the subscription liability is reduced by the principal portion of subscription payments made. The 
subscription asset is initially measured as the initial amount of the subscription liability, adjusted 
for subscription payments made at or before the subscription commencement date, plus initial 
implementation costs. Subsequently, the subscription asset is depreciated on a straight-line basis 
over its useful life.  
 
Key estimates and judgments related to subscriptions include how the University determines the 
discount rate it uses to discount the expected subscription payments to present value and the 
subscription term.  
 
The University uses the interest rate charged by the vendor as the discount rate. When the interest 
rate charged by the vendor is not provided, the University generally uses its estimated incremental 
borrowing rate as the discount rate for subscriptions.  
 
The subscription term includes the noncancelable period of the subscription.  
 
The University monitors changes in circumstances that would require a remeasurement of its 
subscriptions and will remeasure the subscription asset and liability if certain changes occur that 
are expected to significantly affect the amount of the subscription liability. 
 
Subscription assets are reported with other capital assets, and subscription liabilities are reported 
with long-term debt on the statement of net position. 
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At June 30, 2023, Subscription-Based IT Arrangements are as follows: 

Future principal and interest payment requirements related to the University’s Subscription-Based 
IT Arrangements liability at June 30, 2023 are as follows: 

The following is a schedule depicting Subscription-Based IT Arrangements activity for the year 
ended June 30, 2023: 

Foundation 

Capital asset activities for the Foundation for the year ended June 30, 2023 were as follows: 
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NOTE 6 - UNEARNED REVENUE 
 
Unearned revenues consist of the following as of June 30, 2023: 

 

  
 

NOTE 7 - REVENUE BONDS PAYABLE 
 
General 
 
At June 30, 2023, revenue bonds payable consists of Western Illinois University Auxiliary 
Facilities System Revenue Bonds, Series 2020 and Western Illinois University Auxiliary Facilities 
System Revenue Bonds, Series 2016. 
 
Series 2020 Bonds 
 
On March 31, 2020, the Series 2020 Revenue Bonds were issued in the principal amount of 
$36,765,000. The Series 2020 bonds are due April 1, 2033, with annual principal payments ranging 
from $1,835,000 to $3,420,000 commencing on April 1, 2021 and semi-annual interest payments 
beginning October 1, 2020 at 2.4% to 5.0%. 
 
Proceeds from the sale of the Series 2020 Bonds were used to provide for the current refunding of 
the outstanding Series 2010 Bonds and Series 2012 Bonds in the principal amounts of $20,830,000 
and $19,455,000, respectively, and to pay certain expenses related to the issuance of the bonds. 
The total principal amount was deposited into the Series 2010 and 2012 Bond Accounts to redeem 
all of the Refunded Series 2005 bonds on their redemption date at a price equal to the principal 
amount thereof. As a result, the Series 2010 Bonds and Series 2012 Bonds are considered defeased 
and the liability for that portion of the bonds has been removed from the University’s Statement 
of Net Position. 
 
Series 2016 Bonds 
 
On February 4, 2016, the Series 2016 Revenue Bonds were issued in the principal amount of 
$8,990,000. The Series 2016 bonds are due April 1, 2027, with annual principal payments ranging 
from $450,000 to $1,125,000 commencing on April 1, 2017 and semi-annual interest payments 
beginning October 1, 2016 at 3.00% to 5.00%. 
 
Proceeds from the sale of the Series 2016 Bonds were used to provide for the current refunding of 
the outstanding Series 2006 Bonds in the principal amount of $9,660,000 and to pay certain 
expenses related to the issuance of the bonds. The total principal amount was deposited into the 
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Series 2006 Bond Account to redeem all of the Refunded Series 2006 bonds on their redemption 
date at a price equal to the principal amount thereof. As a result, the Series 2006 Bonds are 
considered defeased and the liability for that portion of the bonds has been removed from the 
University’s Statement of Net Position. 
 
Advance Refunded Bonds 
 
Certain revenue bonds of the University have been defeased in prior years through advance 
refunding and, accordingly, have been accounted for as if they were retired. The principal amount 
of advance refunded bonds was fully paid. 
 
Debt Service Activity Requirements and Collateral 
 
Following is a schedule depicting Revenue Bonds Payable activities for the year ended June 30, 
2023: 

   
 

The University does not have an outstanding line of credit.  
 
Aggregate maturities of the bonds outstanding as of June 30, 2023 are as follows: 
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None of the bonds described above constitute obligations of either the State of Illinois or the Board 
of Trustees of Western Illinois University, but together with interest thereon, are payable solely 
from and are collateralized by: a) the net revenues of the Western Illinois University Auxiliary 
Facilities System, b) certain pledged student fees, and c) a pledge of student tuition. Maximum 
annual debt service as defined for all outstanding revenue bonds is $ 4,840,990. The estimated 
debt service coverage ratio based on revenues generated from operations is 1.20. The future 
pledged revenues for principal and interest in Fiscal Year 2023 are $37,104,400 Pledged revenue 
coverage is 13.29 in Fiscal Year 2023. Pledged revenues have a term of commitment through 2033. 
 
NOTE 8 - CERTIFICATES OF PARTICIPATION PAYABLE 
 
General 
 
At June 30, 2023, certificates of participation consist of Western Illinois University Series 2021 
Certificates of Participation and Western Illinois University Series 2015 Certificates of 
Participation. 
 
Series 2021 Certificates of Participation 
 
On July 9, 2021, the Series 2021 Certificates of Participation were issued via a direct bank 
placement in the principal amount of $6,355,000. The Series 2021 Certificates of Participation are 
due October 1, 2029 with annual principal payments ranging from $600,000 to $800,000 
commencing October 1, 2021 and semi-annual interest payments beginning October 1, 2021 at 
2.66%. 
 
Proceeds from the sale of the Series 2021 Certificates of Participation were used to provide for the 
current refunding of the outstanding Series 2010 Certificates of Participation in the principal 
amount of $6,260,000 and to pay certain expenses related to the issuance of the certificates.  The 
net proceeds were deposited into the Series 2010 Installment Payment Fund to redeem all of the 
Refunded Series 2010 Certificates of Participation on their redemption date at a price equal to the 
principal amount thereof.  As a result, the Series 2010 Certificates of Participation are considered 
defeased and the liability for that portion of the certificates has been removed from the University’s 
Statement of Net Position.   
 
Although the refunding resulted in the recognition of an accounting loss of $3,095, the University 
in effect reduced its aggregate debt service payments by $319,249 over the next 8 years and 
obtained an economic gain of $317,685. 
 
Series 2015 Certificates of Participation 
 
On July 14, 2015, the Series 2015 Certificates of Participation were issued in the principal amount 
of $15,100,000. The Series 2015 Certificates of Participation are due October 1, 2024 with annual 
principal payments ranging from $1,470,000 to $1,890,000 commencing October 1, 2016 and 
semi-annual interest payments beginning October 1, 2016 at 3.00% to 5.00%. 
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Proceeds from the sale of the Series 2015 Certificates of Participation were used to provide for the 
current refunding of the outstanding Series 2005 Certificates of Participation in the principal 
amount of $7,160,000, the advance refunding of the outstanding Series 2011 Certificates of 
Participation in the principal amount of $9,265,000, and to pay certain expenses related to the 
issuance of the certificates. The net proceeds plus funds provided by the University were deposited 
into the Series 2005 Installment Payment Fund and the 2011 Installment Payment Fund to redeem 
all of the Refunded Series 2005 and 2011 Certificates of Participation on their redemption date at 
a price equal to the principal amount thereof. As a result, the Series 2005 and 2011 Certificates of 
Participation are considered defeased and the liability for that portion of the certificates has been 
removed from the University’s Statement of Net Position. 
 
Debt Service Activity Requirements and Collateral 
 
Following is a schedule depicting Certificates of Participation activities for the year ended June 
30, 2023: 

  
 

The University does not have an outstanding line of credit. 
 
  

49



 

WESTERN ILLINOIS UNIVERSITY  
A COMPONENT UNIT OF THE STATE OF ILLINOIS  
NOTES TO THE BASIC FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
For the Year Ended June 30, 2023 
  

 

Aggregate maturities of the certificates of participation outstanding as of June 30, 2023 are as 
follows: 

  
 

 
The Certificates of Participation described above do not constitute obligations of either the State 
of Illinois or the Board of Trustees of Western Illinois University, but together with interest 
thereon, are payable solely from and are collateralized by lawful appropriations by the General 
Assembly for such purposes and legally available nonappropriated funds on an annual basis.   
 
Subsequent Event 
 
Subsequent to year end, on December 20, 2023, the Series 2023 Certificates of Participation were 
issued in the principal amount of $5,800,000.  The Series 2023 Certificates of Participation are 
due October 1, 2033 with annual principal payments ranging from $585,000 to $915,000 
commencing October 1, 2026 and monthly interest payments beginning February 1, 2024 at 7.10% 
subject to adjustment.  
 
Proceeds from the sale of the Series 2023 Certificates of Participation will be used to provide for 
the current acquisition, development and implementation of an enterprise resource planning 
system to support the operating systems of the University including software, hardware and 
infrastructure upgrades, staff training and implementation and consulting, including data 
conversion. 
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NOTE 9 - ACCRUED COMPENSATED ABSENCES 
 
Vacation pay earned but not taken may be accumulated up to a specified maximum from 24 to 56 
work days, and received as a lump sum payment upon termination. At June 30, 2023, such 
accumulated benefits totaled $6,890,867. 
 
Administrative and faculty unused sick leave may be accumulated up to a specified maximum, 
generally 360 calendar days. Unused and unpaid sick leave can be applied toward the service time 
requirements for computing retirement benefits. Civil service exempt and nonexempt employees 
have no specified maximum accumulation of unused sick leave days.  One-half of any unused sick 
leave earned from January 1, 1984 and prior to January 1, 1998 can be received as a lump sum 
payment upon termination.  At June 30, 2023, such accumulated benefits totaled $518,711.   
Compensated absences activity for the year ended June 30, 2023 was as follows: 
 

 
 
NOTE 10 – PENSION PLANS 

DEFINED BENEFIT PENSION PLAN 
 
General Information about the Pension Plan 
 
Plan Description 
 
Western Illinois University contributes to the State Universities Retirement System (SURS), a 
cost-sharing multiple-employer defined benefit plan with a special funding situation whereby the 
State of Illinois (State) makes substantially all actuarially determined required contributions on 
behalf of the participating employers. SURS was established July 21, 1941, and provides 
retirement annuities and other benefits for staff members and employees of state universities and 
community colleges, certain affiliated organizations, and certain other state educational and 
scientific agencies and for survivors, dependents, and other beneficiaries of such employees. SURS 
is considered a component unit of the State’s financial reporting entity and is included in the State’s 
Annual Comprehensive Financial Report (ACFR) as a pension trust fund. SURS is governed by 
Chapter 40, Act 5, Article 15 of the Illinois Compiled Statutes. SURS issues a publicly available 
financial report that includes financial statements and required supplementary information. That 
report may be obtained by accessing the website at www.surs.org. 
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Benefits Provided 
 
A traditional benefit plan was established in 1941. Public Act 90-0448 (effective January 1, 1998) 
established an alternative defined benefit program known as the portable benefit package. Tier 1 
of the traditional and portable plan refers to members that began participation prior to January 1, 
2011. Public Act 96-0889 revised the traditional and portable benefit plans for members who began 
participation on or after January 1, 2011, and who do not have other eligible reciprocal system 
service. The revised plan is referred to as Tier 2. New employees are allowed six months after their 
date of hire to make an irrevocable election whether to participate in either the traditional or 
portable benefit plans. A summary of the benefit provisions as of June 30, 2022, can be found in 
the Financial Section of SURS ACFR. 
 
Contributions 
 
The State is primarily responsible for funding SURS on behalf of the individual employers at an 
actuarially determined amount. Public Act 88-0593 provides a statutory funding plan consisting 
of two parts: (i) a ramp-up period from 1996 to 2010 and (ii) a period of contributions equal to a 
level percentage of the payroll of active members within SURS to reach 90% of the total Actuarial 
Accrued Liability by the end of fiscal year 2045. Employer contributions from “trust, federal, and 
other funds” are provided under Section 15-155(b) of the Illinois Pension Code and require 
employers to pay contributions which are sufficient to cover the accruing normal costs on behalf 
of applicable employees. The employer normal cost for fiscal year 2022 and fiscal year 2023, 
respectively, was 12.32% and 12.83% of employee payroll. The normal cost is equal to the value 
of current year’s pension benefit and does not include any allocation for the past unfunded liability 
or interest on the unfunded liability. Plan members are required to contribute 8.0% of their annual 
covered salary, except for police officers and fire fighters who contribute 
9.5% of their earnings. The contribution requirements of plan members and employers are 
established and may be amended by the State’s General Assembly.  
 
Participating employers make contributions toward separately financed specific liabilities under 
Section 15-139.5(e) of the Illinois Pension Code (relating to contributions payable due to the 
employment of “affected annuitants” or specific return to work annuitants), Section 15-155(g) 
(relating to contributions payable due to earning increases exceeding 6% during the final rate of 
earnings period), and Section 15-155(j-5) (relating to contributions payable due to earnings 
exceeding the salary set for the Governor). 
 
Pension Liabilities, Expense, and Deferred Outflows of Resources and Deferred Inflows of 
Resources Related to Defined Benefit Pensions 
 

Net Pension Liability 
 
The net pension liability (NPL) was measured as of June 30, 2022. At June 30, 2022, SURS defined 
benefit plan reported a NPL of $29,078,053,857. 
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Employer Proportionate Share of Net Pension Liability 
 
The amount of the proportionate share of the NPL to be recognized for Western Illinois University 
is $0. The proportionate share of the State’s NPL associated with Western Illinois University is 
$501,406,840 or 1.7243%. Western Illinois University’s proportionate share changed by 
(0.0872%) from 1.8115% since the last measurement date on June 30, 2021. This amount is not 
recognized in Western Illinois University’s financial statements. The NPL and total pension 
liability as of June 30, 2022, was determined based on the June 30, 2021, actuarial valuation rolled 
forward. The basis of allocation used in the proportionate share of net pension liability is the actual 
reported pensionable contributions made to SURS defined benefit plan during fiscal year 2021. 
 
Defined Benefit Pension Expense 
 
For the year ending June 30, 2022, SURS defined benefit plan reported a collective net pension 
expense of $1,903,314,699. 
 
Employer Proportionate Share of Defined Benefit Pension Expense 
 
The employer proportionate share of collective defined benefit pension expense is recognized as 
nonoperating revenue with matching operating expense (compensation and benefits) in the 
financial statements. The basis of allocation used in the proportionate share of collective pension 
expense is the actual reported pensionable contributions made to SURS defined benefit plan during 
fiscal year 2021. As a result, Western Illinois University recognized revenue and defined benefit 
pension expense of $32,819,769 from this special funding situation during the year ended June 30, 
2023. 
 
Deferred Outflows of Resources and Deferred Inflows of Resources Related to Defined Benefit 
Pensions 
 
Deferred outflows of resources are the consumption of net position by SURS that is applicable to 
future reporting periods. Conversely, deferred inflows of resources are the acquisition of net 
position by SURS that is applicable to future reporting periods. 
 
SURS Collective Deferred Outflows and Deferred Inflows of Resources by Sources: 
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SURS Collective Deferred Outflows and Deferred Inflows of Resources by Year to be Recognized 
in Future Pension Expenses: 

 
 
Western Illinois University’s Deferral of Fiscal Year 2023 Contributions 
 

Western Illinois University paid $446,367 in federal, trust or grant contributions to SURS defined 
benefit pension plan during the year ended June 30, 2023. These contributions were made 
subsequent to the pension liability measurement date of June 30, 2022, and are recognized as 
deferred outflows of resources as of June 30, 2023. 
 

Assumptions and Other Inputs 
 

Actuarial assumptions 
 

Actuarial assumptions. The actuarial assumptions used in the June 30, 2022, valuation were based 
on the results of an actuarial experience study for the period from June 30, 2017, through June 30, 
2020. The total pension liability in the June 30, 2022, actuarial valuation was determined using the 
following actuarial assumptions, applied to all periods included in the measurement: 
 

Inflation    2.25 percent 
Salary increases   3.00 to 12.75 percent, including inflation 
Investment rate of return  6.50 percent 

 
Mortality rates were based on the Pub-2010 employee and retiree gender distinct tables with 
projected generational mortality and a separate mortality assumption for disabled participants. 
 
The long-term expected rate of return on defined benefit pension plan investments was determined 
using a building-block method in which best-estimate ranges of expected future real rates of return 
(expected returns, net of pension plan investment expense and inflation) are developed for each 
major asset class. 
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These ranges are combined to produce the long-term expected rate of return by weighting the 
expected future real rates of return by the target asset allocation percentage and by adding expected 
inflation. Best estimates of arithmetic real rates of return were adopted by the plan’s trustees after 
considering input from the plan’s investment consultants and actuary.  
 
For each major asset class that is included in the pension plan’s target asset allocation as of June 
30, 2022, these best estimates are summarized in the following table: 
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Discount Rate 

A single discount rate of 6.39% was used to measure the total pension liability. This single discount 
rate was based on an expected rate of return on pension plan investments of 6.50% and a municipal 
bond rate of 3.69% (based on the Fidelity 20-Year Municipal GO AA Index as of June 30, 2022). 
The projection of cash flows used to determine this single discount rate were the amounts of 
contributions attributable to current plan members and assumed that plan member contributions 
will be made at the current contribution rate and that employer contributions will be made at rates 
equal to the statutory contribution rates under SURS funding policy. Based on these assumptions, 
the pension plan’s fiduciary net position and future contributions were sufficient to finance the 
benefit payments through the year 2076. As a result, the long-term expected rate of return on 
pension plan investments was applied to projected benefit payments through the year 2076, and 
the municipal bond rate was applied to all benefit payments after that date. 

Sensitivity of the System’s Net Pension Liability to Changes in the Discount Rate 

Regarding the sensitivity of the NPL to changes in the single discount rate, the following presents 
the State’s NPL, calculated using a single discount rate of 6.39%, as well as what the State’s NPL 
would be if it were calculated using a single discount rate that is 1-percentage-point lower or 1-
percentage-point higher: 

Additional information regarding SURS basic financial statements, including the plan’s net 
position, can be found in SURS Annual Comprehensive Financial Report by accessing the website 
at www.surs.org. 

DEFINED CONTRIBUTION PENSION PLAN 

General Information about the Pension Plan 

Plan Description 

Western Illinois University contributes to the Retirement Savings Plan (RSP) administered by the 
State Universities Retirement System (SURS), a cost-sharing multiple-employer defined 
contribution pension plan with a special funding situation whereby the State of Illinois (State) 
makes substantially all required contributions on behalf of the participating employers. SURS was 
established July 21, 1941, and provides retirement annuities and other benefits for staff members 
and employees of state universities and community colleges, certain affiliated organizations, and 
certain other state educational and scientific agencies and for survivors, dependents, and other 
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beneficiaries of such employees. SURS is governed by Chapter 40, Act 5, Article 15 of the Illinois 
Compiled Statutes. SURS issues a publicly available financial report that includes financial 
statements and required supplementary information. That report may be obtained by accessing the 
website at www.surs.org. The RSP and its benefit terms were established and may be amended by 
the State’s General Assembly. 
 
Benefits Provided 
 
A defined contribution pension plan, originally called the Self-Managed Plan, was added to SURS 
benefit offerings as a result of Public Act 90-0448, effective January 1, 1998. The plan was 
renamed the RSP effective September 1, 2020, after an extensive plan redesign. New employees 
are allowed six months after their date of hire to make an irrevocable election whether to participate 
in either the traditional or portable defined benefit pension plans or the RSP. A summary of the 
benefit provisions as of June 30, 2022, can be found in SURS Annual Comprehensive Financial 
Report- Notes to the Financial Statements. 
 
Contributions 
 
All employees who have elected to participate in the RSP are required to contribute 8.0% of their 
annual covered earnings. Section 15-158.2(h) of the Illinois Pension Code provides for an 
employer contribution to the RSP of 7.6% of employee earnings. The State is primarily responsible 
for contributing to the RSP on behalf of the individual employers. Employers are required to make 
the 7.6% contribution for employee earnings paid from “trust, federal, and other funds” as 
described in Section 15-155(b) of the Illinois Pension Code. The contribution requirements of plan 
members and employers were established and may be amended by the State’s General Assembly.  
 
Forfeitures 
 
Employees are not vested in employer contributions to the RSP until they have attained five years 
of service credit. Should an employee leave SURS-covered employment with less than five years 
of service credit, the portion of the employee’s RSP account designated as employer contributions 
is forfeited. Employees who later return to SURS-covered employment will have these forfeited 
employer contributions reinstated to their account, so long as the employee’s own contributions 
remain in the account. Forfeited employer contributions are managed by SURS and are used both 
to reinstate previously forfeited contributions and to fund a portion of the State’s contributions on 
behalf of the individual employers. The vesting and forfeiture provisions of the RSP were 
established and may be amended by the State’s General Assembly.  
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Pension Expense Related to Defined Contribution Pensions  
 
Defined Contribution Pension Expense  
 
For the year ended June 30, 2022, the State’s contributions to the RSP on behalf of individual 
employers totaled $89,770,940. Of this amount, $80,902,699 was funded via an appropriation from 
the State and $8,868,241 was funded from previously forfeited contributions. 
 
Employer Proportionate Share of Defined Contribution Pension Expense  
 
The employer proportionate share of collective defined contribution pension expense is recognized 
as nonoperating revenue with matching operating expense (compensation and benefits) in the 
financial statements. The basis of allocation used in the proportionate share of collective defined 
contribution pension expense is the actual reported pensionable contributions made to the RSP 
during fiscal year 2022. Western Illinois University’s share of pensionable contributions was 
1.8585%. As a result, Western Illinois University recognized revenue and defined contribution 
pension expense of $1,668,376 from this special funding situation during the year ended June 30, 
2023, of which $164,815 constituted forfeitures. 
 
NOTE 11 – OTHER POSTEMPLOYMENT BENEFITS 
 

Plan description.  The State Employees Group Insurance Act of 1971 (“SEGIA”), as amended, 
authorizes the Illinois State Employees Group Insurance Program (“SEGIP”) to provide health, 
dental, vision, and life insurance benefits for certain retirees and their dependents.  Substantially 
all of the University’s full-time employees are members of SEGIP.  Members receiving monthly 
benefits from the General Assembly Retirement System (“GARS”), Judges Retirement System 
(“JRS”), State Employees’ Retirement System of Illinois (“SERS”), Teachers’ Retirement System 
(“TRS”), and State Universities Retirement System of Illinois (“SURS”) are eligible for these other 
post-employment benefits (“OPEB”).  The eligibility provisions for each of the retirement systems 
are defined within Note 10.  Certain TRS members eligible for coverage under SEGIP include: 
certified teachers employed by certain State agencies, executives employed by the Board of 
Education, regional superintendents, regional assistant superintendents, TRS employees, and 
members with certain reciprocal service.   
 

The Department of Central Management Services (“CMS”) administers these benefits for 
annuitants with the assistance of the public retirement systems sponsored by the State (GARS, 
JRS, SERS, TRS and SURS).  The State recognizes SEGIP OPEB benefits as a single-employer 
defined benefit plan.  The plan does not issue a stand-alone financial report.   
 

Benefits provided.  The health, dental, and vision benefits provided to and contribution amounts 
required from annuitants are the result of collective bargaining between the State and the various 
unions representing the State’s and the university component units’ employees in accordance with 
limitations established in SEGIA.  Therefore, the benefits provided and contribution amounts are 
subject to periodic change.  Coverage through SEGIP becomes secondary to Medicare after 
Medicare eligibility has been reached.  Members must enroll in Medicare Parts A and B to receive 
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the subsidized SEGIP premium available to Medicare eligible participants.  SEGIA requires the 
State to provide life insurance benefits for annuitants equal to their annual salary as of the last day 
of employment until age 60, at which time, the benefit amount becomes $5,000. 
 

Funding policy and annual OPEB cost.  OPEB offered through SEGIP are financed through a 
combination of retiree premiums, SEGIP contributions pursuant to SEGIA (5 ILCS 375/11), and 
Federal government subsidies from the Medicare Part D program.  These contributions are 
deposited in the Health Insurance Reserve Fund, which covers both active employees and retired 
members.  Annuitants may be required to contribute towards health and vision benefits with the 
amount based on factors such as date of retirement, years of credited service with the State, whether 
the annuitant is covered by Medicare, and whether the annuitant has chosen a managed health care 
plan.  Annuitants who retired prior to January 1, 1998, and who are vested in GARS, JRS, SERS, 
TRS, and SURS do not contribute toward health and vision benefits.  For annuitants who retired 
on or after January 1, 1998, the annuitant’s contribution amount is reduced five percent for each 
year of credited service with the State allowing those annuitants with twenty or more years of 
credited service to not have to contribute towards health and vision benefits.  All annuitants are 
required to pay for dental benefits regardless of retirement date.  CMS’ Director, on an annual 
basis, determines the amount of contributions necessary to fund the basic program of group 
benefits.  The State’s contributions are made primarily from the State’s General Fund on a pay-as-
you-go basis.  No assets are accumulated or dedicated to funding the retiree benefits and a separate 
trust has not been established for the funding of OPEB. 
 

For fiscal year 2023, the annual cost of the basic program of group health, dental, and vision 
benefits before the State’s contribution was $12,635.52 ($6,989.76 if Medicare eligible) if the 
annuitant chose benefits provided by a health maintenance organization and $14,646.00 ($5,882.40 
if Medicare eligible) if the annuitant chose other benefits. The State is not required to fund the plan 
other than the pay-as-you-go amount necessary to provide the current benefits to retirees. 
 

Special Funding Situation Portion of OPEB.  The proportionate share of the State’s OPEB 
expense relative to the University’s employees totaled ($36,032,211) during the year ended June 
30, 2023.  This amount was recognized by the University as non-operating special funding 
situation revenue and operating expense allocated to the related function performed by the 
employees during the year ended June 30, 2023. 
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While the University is not required to record the portion of the State’s OPEB liability related to 
the University’s employees resulting from the special funding situation, the University is required 
to disclose this amount.  The following chart displays the proportionate share of the State’s 
contributions related to the University’s special funding situation relative to all employer 
contributions during the year ended June 30, 2022 based on the June 30, 2021 actuarial valuation 
rolled forward: 

 

 
 

University’s Portion of OPEB and Disclosures Related to SEGIP Generally: 
Total OPEB liability, deferred outflows of resources, deferred inflows of resources, and 
expense related to OPEB.  The University’s total OPEB liability, as reported at June 30, 2023, 
was measured as of the measurement date on June 30, 2022, with an actuarial valuation as of June 
30, 2021. The following chart displays the proportionate share of the University’s contributions 
relative to all employer contributions during the year ended June 30, 2022 based on the June 30, 
2021 actuarial valuation rolled forward: 
 

 
 
The University’s portion of the OPEB liability was based on the University’s proportion share 
amount determined under the methodology described in Note 1 during the year ended June 30, 
2022.  As of the current year measurement date of June 30, 2022, the University’s proportion 
increased 0.0089% from its proportion measured as of the prior year measurement date of June 30, 
2021.   
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The University recognized OPEB expense for the year ended June 30, 2023, of ($1,172,076).  In 
addition, the University recorded $624,824 of revenue and expenditures in the General Revenue 
account of the General Fund to account for contributions to SEGIP for University employees that 
were paid from statewide General Revenue Fund appropriations. At June 30, 2023, the University 
reported deferred outflows and deferred inflows of resources, as of the measurement date of June 
30, 2022, from the following sources: 
 

  
 

  
 

The amounts reported as deferred outflows of resources related to OPEB resulting from the 
University’s contributions subsequent to the measurement date will be recognized as a reduction 
to the OPEB liability in the year ended June 30, 2024.  Other amounts reported as deferred outflows 
and deferred inflows of resources related to OPEB will be recognized in OPEB expense as follows: 
 

 
 

Actuarial methods and assumptions.  The total OPEB liability was determined by an actuarial 
valuation using the following actuarial assumptions, applied to all periods included in the 
measurement unless otherwise specified.  The actuarial valuation for the SEGIP was based on 
GARS, JRS, SERS, TRS, and SURS active, inactive, and retiree data as of June 30, 2021, for 
eligible SEGIP employees, and SEGIP retiree data as of June 30, 2021. 
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Additionally, the demographic assumptions used in the OPEB valuation are identical to those used 
in the June 30, 2021 valuations for GARS, JRS, SERS, TRS, and SURS as follows: 
 

 
 
Discount rate.  Retirees contribute a percentage of the premium rate based on service at 
retirement.  The State contributes additional amounts to cover claims and expenses in excess of 
retiree contributions.  Because plan benefits are financed on a pay-as-you-go basis, the single 
discount rate is based on a tax-exempt municipal bond rate index of 20-year general obligation 
bonds with an average AA credit rating as of the measurement date.  A single discount rate of 
1.92% at June 30, 2021, and 3.69% at June 30, 2022, was used to measure the total OPEB liability. 
 
Sensitivity of total OPEB liability to changes in the single discount rate.  The following 
presents the University’s proportionate share of the plan’s total OPEB liability measured as of June 
30, 2022, calculated using a Single Discount Rate of 3.69%, as well as what the University’s 
proportionate share of the plan’s total OPEB liability would be if it were calculated using a Single 
Discount rate that is one percentage point higher (4.69%) or lower (2.69%) than the current rate: 
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Sensitivity of the total OPEB liability to changes in the healthcare cost trend rate.  The 
following presents the plans total OPEB liability, calculated using the healthcare cost trend rates 
as well as what the plan’s total OPEB liability would be if it were calculated using a healthcare 
cost trend rate that is one percentage point higher or lower, than the current healthcare cost trend 
rates.  The key trend rates are 8.00% in 2024 decreasing to an ultimate trend rate of 4.25% in 2039,  
 

 
 
Total OPEB Liability Associated with the University, Regardless of Funding Source.  The 
University is required to disclose all OPEB liabilities related to it, including (1) the portion of the 
State’s OPEB liability related to the University’s employees resulting from the special funding 
situation the University is not required to record and (2) the portion of OPEB liability recorded by 
the University for its employees paid from trust, federal, and other funds.  The following chart 
displays the proportionate share of contributions, regardless of funding source, associated with the 
University’s employees relative to all employer contributions during the year ended June 30, 2022 
based on the June 30, 2021 actuarial valuation rolled forward: 
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NOTE 12 – INSURANCE  
 
Through its participation in the Illinois Public Higher Education Cooperative (IPHEC), the 
University has contracted with commercial carriers to provide various insurance coverages, 
including educators’ legal and other general liability insurance. The University’s liability 
coverages have a $350,000 deductible per occurrence. Additionally, the University purchases 
property insurance coverage for the replacement value of University real property and contents. 
Settled claims have not exceeded commercial coverage in any of the three preceding years. 
 
NOTE 13 - OPERATING EXPENSES BY NATURAL CLASSIFICATION 
 
Operating expenses by natural classification for the year ended June 30, 2023 for the University 
are summarized as follows: 

 

 
 
NOTE 14 - CONTRACT WITH WESTERN ILLINOIS UNIVERSITY FOUNDATION 
 
The University has a contract with the Western Illinois University Foundation in which the 
Foundation has agreed to aid and assist the University in achieving its educational, research, and 
service goals by developing and administering its gifts. These gifts received by the Foundation are 
to be used for the benefit of the University in its scholarship, loan, grant and other supporting 
programs. The University agreed, as part of this contract, to furnish certain services necessary to 
the operation of the Foundation. 
 
For Fiscal Year 2023, the Foundation did not specifically reimburse the University for $1,194,544 
of personal service costs, facility use and other costs provided by the University. However, the 
Foundation directly paid expenses for certain University activity from contributions held at the 
Foundation in the amount of $2,191,821 for Fiscal Year 2023. 
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During the year ended June 30, 2023, the University and Foundation had the following inter-entity 
transactions: 

 
 

NOTE 15 - COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES  
 
Claims and Litigation 
 
The University is currently involved in various claims and pending legal actions related to matters 
arising from the ordinary conduct of business. The University administration believes that ultimate 
disposition of the actions will not have a material effect on the financial statements of the 
University. 
 
Government Grants 
 
The University is currently participating in numerous grants from various departments and 
agencies of the federal and State governments. The expenditures of grant proceeds must be for 
allowable and eligible purposes. Single audits and audits by the granting department or agency 
may result in requests for reimbursements of unused grant proceeds or disallowed expenditures. 
Upon notification of final approval by the granting department or agency, the grants are considered 
closed. 
 
NOTE 16 – CHANGE IN ACCOUNTING PRINCIPLE   
 
As of July 1, 2022, the University implemented GASB Statement No. 96, Subscription-Based 
Information Technology Arrangements. This Statement establishes a single model for subscription 
accounting based on the foundational principle that subscriptions are financings of the right to use 
an underlying asset.  A lessee is required to recognize a subscription liability and an intangible 
right-to-use lease asset. 
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The University restated the statement of net position as indicated below to appropriately reflect 
the July 1, 2022 balances as follows:  
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2014 2015 2016 2017 2018 2019 2020 2021 2022

 net pension liability 0% 0% 0% 0% 0% 0% 0% 0% 0%

 pension liability -$    -$  -$  -$  -$   -$   -$   -$   -$     

 entities' total proportion of collective net
586,649,047   628,376,573   665,077,569   607,342,161   635,454,194   617,854,891   554,679,669 516,798,212 501,406,840 
586,649,047   628,376,573   665,077,569   607,342,161   635,454,194   617,854,891   554,679,669 516,798,212 501,406,840 

97,810,421$   96,318,804$   92,521,052$   84,155,043$   82,557,481$   77,731,369$   67,269,966$ 64,182,647$ 65,128,508$ 

  of DB covered-employee payroll 599.78% 652.39% 718.84% 721.69% 769.71% 794.86% 824.56% 805.20% 769.87%

  total pension liability 44.39% 42.37% 39.57% 42.04% 41.27% 40.71% 39.05% 45.45% 43.65%

Schedule of Contributions 2014 2015 2016 2017 2018 2019 2020 2021 2022 2023

305,959$      329,255$     360,777$     368,321$     369,915$      418,858$     441,931$      358,564$      455,776$      446,210$      
305,959     329,255   360,777   368,321$     369,915$      418,858$     441,931$      358,564$      455,776$      446,210$      

-   -    -    -   -    -   -    -    -    -   

121,080,877$ 120,107,278$ 115,835,988$ 106,343,389$ 104,591,344$ 100,600,980$ 88,511,533$ 85,782,466$ 87,344,822$ 90,004,720$ 
0.25% 0.27% 0.31% 0.35% 0.35% 0.42% 0.50% 0.42% 0.52% 0.50%

*Note: SURS implemented GASB No. 68 in fiscal year 2015. The information above is presented for as many years as
available. This schedule is intended to show information for 10 years.

Schedule of Share of Net Pension Liability

(a) Proportion percentage of the collective 

(b) Proportion amount of the collective net

(c) Portion of nonemployer contributing

 pension liability associated with employer
Total (b) + (c) 

Employer covered-employee payroll
Proportion of collective net pension liability 

Contributions as a percentage of covered payroll

  associated with employer as a percentage 

SURS plan net position as a percentage of

Federal, trust, grant, and other contribution
Contribution in relation to required contribution
Contribution deficiency (excess)

Employer covered payroll
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1. Changes of Benefit Terms
There were no benefit changes recognized in the Total Pension Liability as of June 30, 2022,
June 30, 2021, June 30, 2020, June 30, 2019, June 30, 2018 or June 30, 2017.

2. Changes of Assumptions (Fiscal Year 2022)
In accordance with Illinois Compiled Statutes, an actuarial review is to be performed at least
once every three years to determine the reasonableness of actuarial assumptions regarding
the retirement, disability, mortality, turnover, interest, and salary of the members and benefit
recipients of SURS. An experience review for the years June 30, 2017, to June 30, 2020,
was performed in Spring 2021, resulting in the adoption of new assumptions as of June 30,
2021. These assumptions are listed below and remained the same for the June 30, 2022,
actuarial valuation.

 Salary increase. Change in the overall assumed salary increase rates, ranging from 3.00
percent to 12.75 percent based on years of service, while maintaining the underlying
wage inflation rate of 2.25 percent.

 Investment return. Decrease the investment return assumption to 6.50 percent. This
reflects decreasing the assumed real rate of return to 4.25 percent and maintaining the
underlying assumed price inflation of 2.25 percent.

 Effective rate of interest. Decrease the long-term assumption for the effective rate of
interest for crediting the money purchase accounts to 6.50 percent.

 Normal retirement rates. Establish separate rates for members in academic positions and
nonacademic positions to reflect that retirement rates for academic positions are lower
than for nonacademic positions.

 Early retirement rates. Establish separate rates for members in academic positions and
nonacademic positions to reflect that retirement rates for academic positions are lower
than for nonacademic positions.

 Turnover rates. Change rates to produce slightly lower expected turnover for most
members, while maintaining pattern of decreasing termination rates as years of service
increase.

 Mortality rates. Change from the RP-2014 to the Pub-2010 mortality tables to reflect
the latter’s higher applicability to public pensions. Update the projection scale from the
MP-2017 to the MP-2020 scale.

 Disability rates. Establish separate rates for members in academic positions and non-
academic positions and maintain separate rates for males and females.

 Plan election. Change plan election assumptions to 75 percent Tier 2 and 25 percent
Retirement Savings Plan (RSP) for non-academic members. Change plan election
assumptions to 55 percent Tier 2 and 45 percent Retirement Savings Plan (RSP) for
academic members.
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Changes of Assumptions (Fiscal Year 2021) 
In accordance with Illinois Compiled Statutes, an actuarial review is to be performed at least 
once every three years to determine the reasonableness of actuarial assumptions regarding 
the retirement, disability, mortality, turnover, interest and salary of the members and benefit 
recipients of SURS. An experience review for the years June 30, 2017 to June 30, 2020 was 
performed in Spring 2021, resulting in the adoption of new assumptions as of June 30, 2021. 
 
 Salary increase. Change in the overall assumed salary increase rates, ranging from 3.00 

percent to 12.75 percent based on years of service, while maintaining the underlying 
wage inflation rate of 2.25 percent.  

 Investment return. Decrease the investment return assumption to 6.50 percent. This 
reflects decreasing the assumed real rate of return of 4.25 percent and maintaining the 
underlying assumed price inflation of 2.25 percent.  

 Effective rate of interest. Decrease the long-term assumption for the effective rate of 
interest for crediting the money purchase accounts to 6.50 percent. 

 Normal retirement rates. Establish separate rates for members in academic positions and 
non-academic positions to reflect that retirement rates for academic positions are lower 
than for non-academic positions. 

 Early retirement rates. Establish separate rates for members in academic positions and 
non-academic positions to reflect that retirement rates for academic positions are 
lower than for non-academic positions. 

 Turnover rates. Change rates to produce slightly lower expected turnover for most 
members, while maintaining pattern of decreasing termination rates as years of service 
increase. 

 Mortality rates. Change from the RP-2014 to the Pub-2010 mortality tables to reflect 
the latter’s higher applicability to public pensions.  Update the projection scale from the 
MP-2017 to the MP-2020 scale. 

 Disability rates. Establish separate rates for members in academic positions and non-
academic positions and maintain separate rates for males and females.  

 Plan election.  Change plan election assumptions to 75 percent Tier 2 and 25 percent 
Retirement Savings Plan (RSP) for non-academic members.  Change plan election 
assumption to 55 percent Tier 2 and 45 percent Retirement Savings Plan (RSP) for 
academic members. 
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Changes of Assumptions (Fiscal Year 2019) 
In accordance with Illinois Compiled Statutes, an actuarial review is to be performed at least 
once every three years to determine the reasonableness of actuarial assumptions regarding 
the retirement, disability, mortality, turnover, interest and salary of the members and benefit 
recipients of SURS. An experience review for the years June 30, 2014 to June 30, 2017 was 
performed in February 2018, resulting in the adoption of new assumptions as of June 30, 
2018. 

 Salary increase. Decrease in the overall assumed salary increase rates, ranging from 3.25
percent to 12.25 percent based on years of service, with underlying wage inflation of
2.25 percent.

 Investment return. Decrease the investment return assumption to 6.75 percent. This
reflects maintaining an assumed real rate of return of 4.50 percent and decreasing the
underlying assumed price inflation to 2.25 percent.

 Effective rate of interest. Decrease the long-term assumption for the effective rate of
interest for crediting the money purchase accounts to 6.75 percent (effective July 2,
2019.

 Normal retirement rates. A slight increase in the retirement rate at age 50. No change to
the rates for ages 60-61, 67-74, and 80+, but a slight decrease in rates at all other ages.
A rate of 50 percent if the member has 40 or more years of service and is younger than
age 80.

 Early retirement rates. Decrease in rates for all Tier 1 early retirement eligibility ages
(55-59).

 Turnover rates. Change rates to produce lower expected turnover for members with less
than 10 years of service and higher turnover for members with more than 10 years of
service.

 Mortality rates. Maintain the RP-2014 mortality tables with projected generational
mortality improvement. Update the projection scale from the MP-2014 to the MP-2017
scale.

 Disability rates. Decrease current rates to reflect that certain members who receive
disability benefits do not receive the benefits on a long-term basis.
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Changes of Assumptions (Fiscal Year 2018) 
In accordance with Illinois Compiled Statutes, an actuarial review is to be performed at least 
once every three years to determine the reasonableness of actuarial assumptions regarding 
the retirement, disability, mortality, turnover, interest and salary of the members and benefit 
recipients of SURS. An experience review for the years June 30, 2010 to June 30, 2014 was 
performed in February 2015, resulting in the adoption of new assumptions as of June 30, 
2015. 

 
 Mortality rates. Change from the RP 2000 Mortality table projected to 2017, sex distinct, 

to the RP-2014 mortality tables with projected generational mortality improvement. 
Change to a separate mortality assumption for disabled participants. 

 Salary increase. Change assumption to service-based rates, ranging from 3.75 percent 
to 15.00 percent based on years of service, with underlying wage inflation of 3.75 
percent. 

 Normal retirement rates. Change to retirement rates at ages younger than 60, age 66, 
and ages 70-79 to reflect observed experiences. 

 Early retirement rates. Change to a slight increase to the rates at ages 55 and 56. 
 Turnover rates. Change to produce lower expected turnover for members with less than 

10 years of service and higher turnover for members with more than 10 years of service 
than the currently assumed rates. 

 Disability rates. Decrease rates and have separate rates for males and females to reflect 
observed experience. 

 Dependent assumption. Maintain the current assumption on marital status that varies by 
age and sex and the assumption that males are three years older than their spouse. 
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2017 2018 2019 2020 2021 2022
0.0403% 0.0377% 0.0403% 0.0385% 0.0441% 0.0524%

16,653,514$   15,115,155$   17,507,793$   16,107,947$   15,202,663$   8,950,029$     

Estimated proportionate amount of collective total OPEB liability -$      502,678,599$ 494,255,011$ 375,665,635$ 340,529,170$ 185,859,217$ 
associated with the University - State supported portion

Total 16,653,514$   517,793,754$ 511,762,804$ 391,773,582$ 355,731,833$ 194,809,246$ 

98,307,385$   96,093,044$   91,994,282$   80,834,491$   78,555,905$   79,718,744$   

16.94% 15.73% 19.03% 19.93% 19.35% 11.23%

*Note: GASB No. 75 was implemented in fiscal year 2018. The information above is presented for as many years as
available. This schedule is intended to show information for 10 years.

of employer covered-employee payroll
Proportionate share of the collective total OPEB liability as a percentage

Schedule of Share of the Collective Total OPEB Liability

Proportion percentage of the colletive total OPEB liability

Proportionate share of the collective total OPEB liability

Employer covered payroll
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WESTERN ILLINOIS UNIVERSITY 
A COMPONENT UNIT OF THE STATE OF ILLINOIS 
NOTES TO REQUIRED SUPPLEMENTARY INFORMATION – OPEB (UNAUDITED) 
For the Year Ended June 30, 2023 

There are no assets accumulated in a trust to pay University employees’ other post-employment 
benefits. 

Changes of Assumptions 

The single discount rate was changed from 1.92% to 3.69% for fiscal year 2022. 
The single discount rate was changed from 2.45% to 1.92% for fiscal year 2021. 
The single discount rate was changed from 3.13% to 2.45% for fiscal year 2020. 
The single discount rate was changed from 3.62% to 3.13% for fiscal year 2019. 
The single discount rate was changed from 3.56% to 3.62% for fiscal year 2018. 
The single discount rate was changed from 2.85% to 3.56% for fiscal year 2017. 

The healthcare trend assumptions were updated based on claim and enrollment experience 
through June 30, 2021, projected plan costs for plan year end June 30, 2022, premium changes 
through plan year end 2023, and expectation of future trend increases after June 30, 2022. 

Per capita claim costs for plan year end June 30, 2022, were updated based on projected claims 
and enrollment experience through June 30, 2022, and updated premium rates through plan year 
2023. 

Healthcare plan participation rates by plan were updated based on observed experience. 
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WESTERN ILLINOIS UNIVERSITY 
A COMPONENT UNIT OF THE STATE OF ILLINOIS  
SUPPLEMENTARY INFORMATION – TABLE OF OPERATING EXPENSES 
For the Year Ended June 30, 2023 

The following table presents a break-down of the various types of expenses which collectively 
comprise the University’s functional operating expense accounts for the year ended June 30, 2023: 

75



 

 76  

Independent Auditor's Report on Internal Control Over Financial Reporting and on Compliance and Other Matters 
Based on an Audit of Financial Statements Performed in Accordance with Government Auditing Standards 

Honorable Frank J. Mautino 
Auditor General  
State of Illinois  
 
and 
 
Board of Trustees 
Western Illinois University 

As Special Assistant Auditors for the Auditor General, we have audited, in accordance with auditing standards 
generally accepted in the United States of America and the standards applicable to financial audits contained in 
Government Auditing Standards issued by the Comptroller General of the United States, the financial statements 
of  the business-type activities, fiduciary activities, and the discretely presented component unit of Western 
Illinois University (the "University"), collectively, a component unit of the State of Illinois, as of and for the year 
ended June 30, 2023, and the related notes to the financial statements, which collectively comprise the 
University's basic financial statements, and we have issued our report thereon dated February 22, 2024. 

Our report includes a reference to another auditor who audited the financial statements of the Western Illinois 
University Foundation, the discretely presented component unit, as described in our report on the University's 
financial statements. This report does not include the results of the other auditor's testing of internal control over 
financial reporting or compliance and other matters that are reported on separately by that auditor. 

Report on Internal Control Over Financial Reporting 

In planning and performing our audit of the financial statements, we considered the University's internal control 
over financial reporting (internal control) as a basis for designing audit procedures that are appropriate in the 
circumstances for the purpose of expressing our opinions on the financial statements, but not for the purpose of 
expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the University's internal control. Accordingly, we do not express an 
opinion on the effectiveness of the University's internal control. 

A deficiency in internal control exists when the design or operation of a control does not allow management or 
employees, in the normal course of performing their assigned functions, to prevent, or detect and correct, 
misstatements on a timely basis. A material weakness is a deficiency, or a combination of deficiencies, in internal 
control such that there is a reasonable possibility that a material misstatement of the University's financial 
statements will not be prevented, or detected and corrected, on a timely basis. A significant deficiency is a 
deficiency, or a combination of deficiencies, in internal control that is less severe than a material weakness yet 
important enough to merit attention by those charged with governance. 

Our consideration of internal control was for the limited purpose described in the first paragraph of this section 
and was not designed to identify all deficiencies in internal control that might be material weaknesses or 
significant deficiencies. Given these limitations, during our audit we did not identify any deficiencies in internal 
control that we consider to be material weaknesses. However, material weaknesses or significant deficiencies 
may exist that were not identified.  

Report on Compliance and Other Matters 

As part of obtaining reasonable assurance about whether the University's financial statements are free from 
material misstatement, we performed tests of its compliance with certain provisions of laws, regulations, 
contracts, and grant agreements, noncompliance with which could have a direct and material effect on the 
financial statements. However, providing an opinion on compliance with those provisions was not an objective of 
our audit and, accordingly, we do not express such an opinion. The results of our tests disclosed no instances of 
noncompliance or other matters that are required to be reported under Government Auditing Standards 
 

Olivia.Grigg
Cincinnati

Olivia.Grigg
Praxity



Honorable Frank J. Mautino 
Auditor General  
State of Illinois  

and 

Board of Trustees 
Western Illinois University 
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Purpose of this Report 

The purpose of this report is solely to describe the scope of our testing of internal control and compliance and the 
results of that testing, and not to provide an opinion on the effectiveness of the University's internal control or on 
compliance. This report is an integral part of an audit performed in accordance with Government Auditing 
Standards in considering the University's internal control and compliance. Accordingly, this communication is not 
suitable for any other purpose. 

Cincinnati, Ohio 

February 22, 2024 

KMacDonna
Typewriter
SIGNED ORIGINAL ON FILE



WESTERN ILLINOIS UNIVERSITY 
A COMPONENT UNIT OF THE STATE OF ILLINOIS 

SCHEDULE OF FINDINGS – PRIOR FINDINGS NOT REPEATED 
For the Year ended June 30, 2023 

A. FINDING (Inadequate Internal Controls over Census Data)

During the previous audit period, the University did not have adequate internal control over
reporting its census data and did not have a reconciliation process to provide assurance census data
submitted to its pension and other postemployment benefits (OPEB) plans was complete and
accurate.

During the current audit period, the reconciliation was prepared and no other exceptions were
noted in related to the June 30, 2021 census data. (Finding Code No. 2022-001, 2021-001, 2020-
001)

78


	Cover Page
	Table of Contents
	University Officials
	Financial Statement Report Summary
	Independent Auditor's Report
	Management's Discussion and Analysis (Unaudited)
	Statement of Net Position
	Statement of Revenues, Expenses and Changes in Net Position
	Statement of Cashflows
	Statement of Fiduciary Net Position
	Statement of Changes in Fiduciary Net Position
	Notes to the Basic Financial Statements
	Required Supplementary Information
	Supplementary Information
	Independent Auditor's Report on Internal Control
	Schedule of Findings - Prior Finding Not Repeated



